
MAYOR                         CITY MANAGER 

Brian West Bret Bell 

 
CITY COUNCIL ASST CITY MANAGER 
Monty Parks Mayor pro tem Michelle Owens 

Bill Garbett  

Spec Hosti CLERK OF COUNCIL  
Tony Ploughe Jan LeViner 

Nick Sears  
Kathryn Williams CITY ATTORNEY 

 Edward M. Hughes 

 Tracy O’Connell 

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 
 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

 

A G E N D A  
REGULAR MEETING OF TYBEE ISLAND CITY COUNCIL 

October 10, 2024 at 6:30 PM 
Please silence all cell phones during Council Meetings 

 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
Announcements 
 
Recognitions and Proclamations 

1. Retired Educators Proclamation 
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda  
 
Consideration of the approval of the minutes of the meetings of the Tybee Island City Council 

2. Minutes, City Council Meeting, September 12, 2024 
 
Citizens to be Heard:  Please limit comments to 4 minutes. 

3. Keith Gay:  STR Audit 
 
If there is anyone wishing to speak to anything on the agenda other than the Public Hearings,  
please approach the podium.  Please limit your comments to 4 minutes. 
 
Consideration of Approval of Consent Agenda 
 
Public Hearings 

4. Approval of a minor combination subdivision of three lots into two lots.  Owner:  Billy 
Navon.  Location:  0 5th Avenue.  Zoning:  C-2 and R-1-B 

5. Approval of a site plan for the redevelopment of the Wastewater Treatment 
Plant.  Owner:  City of Tybee Island.  923 Bay Street.  Zoning:  R-1/NEP 

 
 

- Page 1 -



 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

Consideration of Local Requests & Applications – Funding, Special Events, Alcohol License 
6. Treylor Park Beach Party Inc, 1311 Butler Ave 

Entertainment and Alcohol License Request: Liquor/Beer/Wine--Sunday Sales for 
consumption on premises only. Entertainment during weekend brunch, weekday happy 
hour/live acoustic music 

 
Consideration of Bids, Contracts, Agreements, and Expenditures 

7. Merchant Processing Application and Agreement:  Cardconnect 
8. MOU – DNR on Beach Restoration $4,000,000 Appropriation 
9. Awarding of RFP 2024-779 Historic District Consultant      
10. Legislative Services Annual Agreement:  Civic Forward Strategies,  LLC (Tom Gehl, 

Principal) 
11. End of Fiscal Year Budget Amendment 

 
Consideration of Ordinances, Resolutions 

12. A Resolution to Accept a National Fish And Wildlife Grant Agreement to Undertake the 
Final Design and Permitting Of Projects In The Back River  
 

Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 
 
Executive Session 
     Discuss litigation, personnel and real estate  
Possible vote on litigation, personnel and real estate discussed in executive session 
Adjournment 
Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 
required to contact Jan LeViner at 912.472.5080 promptly to allow the City to make reasonable accommodations 
for those persons.   
 
*PLEASE NOTE:  Citizens wishing to speak on items listed on the agenda, other than public hearings, 

should do so during the citizens to be heard section.  Citizens wishing to place items on the council 
meeting agenda must submit an agenda request form to the City Clerk’s office by Thursday at 5:00PM 

prior to the next scheduled meeting.  Agenda request forms are available outside the Clerk’s office at City 

Hall and at www.cityoftybee.org. 
 

 

 

THE VISION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to make Tybee Island the premier beach community in which to live, work, and play.” 
 

 

 

THE MISSION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to provide a safe, secure and sustainable environment by delivering superior services through responsible 
planning, preservation of our natural and historic resources, and partnership with our community to ensure 
economic opportunity, a vibrant quality of life, and a thriving future.” 

 

 

- Page 2 -

http://www.cityoftybee.org/


File Attachments for Item:

1. Retired Educators Proclamation

- Page 3 -



  
        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
PROCLAMATION 

GEORGIA RETIRED EDUCATORS ASSOCIATION 
 
 

WHEREAS:  More than 145,000 retired educators have devoted their time and 
talents to public education in our state, fostering the academic development of 
millions of outstanding citizens in the State of Georgia; and   
 
WHEREAS: For sixty-seven years, the Georgia Retired Educators Association has 
dedicated its efforts to improving the welfare of retired educators, and it has 
provided opportunities for them to become involved in community activities; and 
 
WHEREAS:  It is appropriate that a day be designated for citizens to express their 
appreciation for the contributions that retired educators have made and continue 
to make for the betterment of human lives and for society; and 
 
WHEREAS:  The Governor of the State of Georgia has proclaimed the day of 
Sunday, November 3, 2024, as Retired Educators Day in Georgia; and 
 
WHEREAS:  Local churches and businesses will recognize those lasting 
contributions made by retired educators in this community; now 
 
THEREFORE:  I, Brian West, Mayor and the City Council Members of the City of 
Tybee Island   do hereby proclaim the day of November 3,  2024, as “RETIRED 
EDUCATORS DAY”  and I call upon the citizens of the City of Tybee Island to 
observe that day in an appropriate manner honoring retired educators.  Given 
unto my hand and seal at Tybee Island, Georgia, on this 26th day of September 
2024.   
 
        _________________________ 
        BRIAN WEST, MAYOR 
        City of Tybee Island  
             
              
        

- Page 4 -Item #1.



 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

         
 

- Page 5 -Item #1.



File Attachments for Item:

2. Minutes, City Council Meeting, September 12, 2024

- Page 6 -



 

 

 
City Council Minutes, September 12, 2024 
 
 
Mayor West called the meeting to order at 6:30PM, September 12, 2024.  Those in attendance 
were Nick Sears, Monty Parks, Spec Hosti, Kathryn Williams, Tony Ploughe and Bill Garbett.    Also 
attending were Bret Bell, City Manager; Michelle Owens, Assistant City Manager; Bubba Hughes, 
City Attorney, Tracy O’Connell, City Attorney; and Jan LeViner, City Clerk.   
 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Tribute to 911 
     Invocation:  Sheron Burgess, American Legion Auxiliary Post 154 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda 

 Minutes, City Council Meeting, August 22, 2024 
 Agenda Request: Tybee Festival Association/Tybee Pirate Fest: Special Event Alcohol 

License Request-Beer and Wine October 11-13, 2024 

 2024 Certified Local Government Grant for Fort Screven National Register Historic District 
and the North Campbell Neighborhood 

 Agreement for Fire Service Mutual Aid, Chatham County and Tybee Island, term of five (5) 
years from the date of execution and may be renewed for additional terms upon mutual 
agreement of the Parties. 

 Professional Services Agreement:  City of Tybee Island and Jeffrey Kenney, MD.  Yearly 
stipend, $6,000. 

 
Consideration of Boards. Commissions and Committee Appointments 
Historic Preservation Commission Vacancy 

 Jacilyn Ledford 
 Cynthia Howze 
 Stephen Mennella 

Bill Garbett made a motion to accept the recommendation of the HPC of Jacilyn Ledford.  
Kathryn Williams seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 
Invited Guests and Staff Reports.  Please limit to 10 minutes. 
Dale Williams approached Mayor and Council to discuss Beach Safety on the Island.  Mr. 
Williams did a short presentation regarding beach safety on not only the south-end but also the 
entire beach.  (attached).  Mayor West thanked Mr. Williams for his presentation.  
 
Citizens to be Heard 
Dawn Shay approached Mayor and Council.  Ms. Shay spoke in support of Mr. Williams and his 
recommendation for a Task Force.  Mayor West thanked Ms. Shay. 
 
Kathryn Williams made a motion to approve the consent agenda.  Monty Parks seconded.  
Vote was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 
Spec Hosti discussed the Financing of Polk and Solomon.    Mr. Hosti made reference to 
the Campground Fund and asked if the City can use a portion of that money to repay the General 
Fund.  Mr. Hughes responded, it is his opinion the City could use those funds for that purpose.  

- Page 7 -Item #2.



 

 
 

He also stated that once the Camp Ground is paid for, it will belong to the City and they would 
be required to compensate the City for the use of that property.  NO ACTION TAKEN. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to adjourn to executive sessions to discuss real estate, personnel and 
litigation.  Tony Ploughe seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to return to regular session.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote was 
unanimous to approve, 6-0.   
 
Monty Parks made a motion to adjourn.  Spec Hosti seconded.  Vote was unanimous to 
approve, 6-0. 
 
Meeting was adjourned at 8:35PM. 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
Janet LeViner, MMC 
Clerk of Council 

- Page 8 -Item #2.



File Attachments for Item:

4. Approval of a minor combination subdivision of three lots into two lots.  Owner:  Billy Navon. 

Location:  0 5th Avenue.  Zoning:  C-2 and R-1-B

- Page 9 -



1 

 

 

 STAFF REPORT 
 CITY COUNCIL MEETING:  October 10, 2024 
 

 
REQUESTED ACTION: Approval of a minor combination subdivision of three lots into two lots. 
 
LOCATION:  0 5th Avenue      PIN:  40003 11014 
 
APPLICANT:  Billy Navon OWNER:  Billy Navon 

 
EXISTING USE:  Three vacant lots PROPOSED USE:  Two vacant lots; one for future 

residential use and one for future commercial uses 

 
ZONING:  C-2 and R-1-B USE PERMITTED BY RIGHT:  N/A 
 
COMMUNITY CHARACTER MAP:  Commercial Gateway and Fort Screven 
 
PROPOSAL:  The applicant is requesting to combine three lots (170, 171, and 172) of 0.17 acres each into two lots.  
The lot line for lot 170 will be adjust southward by two feet while the lots of remainder of 171 and all of lot 172 will 
be combined into one lot (lot 171). The property is currently platted as HAYLEY'S COVE SUB lots 170-172, with each 
lot being 0.17 acres. 
 
PLANNING COMMISION: The Planning Commission recommended approval of the proposed minor subdivision by 
a vote of 4-3 at the September 16, 2024 regular meeting. 
 
 
  

Map 2: Community Character Areas 

Fort Screven 

Commercial Gateway 

Map 1:  Zoning 

R-1-B 

C-2 

Lot line 

moving 2’ 

south 

Lots to be 

combined 

Map 3: Minor Plat Configuration 

- Page 10 -Item #4.



2 

 

 

Map 4: Proposed minor subdivision 

LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE (LDC) ANALYSIS. The proposed combination subdivision meets the requirements for 
new lots in the each zoning district, including the 60’ lot width requirement. The minor subdivision is complaint with 
the plat submittal requirements of Section 10-050 – Minor subdivisions as the lots front an existing public street, 
do not require a new street, with water and sewer available.  
 
The minor subdivision also meets the standards for subdivision proposals as laid out in Section 5-151 - Standards 
for subdivision proposals: 

 All subdivision proposals shall be consistent with the need to minimize flood damage. 

 All subdivision proposals shall have public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical and water 
systems located and constructed to minimize flood damage. 

 All subdivision proposals shall have adequate drainage provided to reduce exposure to flood hazards. 

 Base flood elevation data shall be provided for subdivision proposals and other proposed development. 
 
Any future development of the C-2 zoned lot will require a site plan review, and possible special review, depending 
on the proposed use in accordance with the requirements of the LDC. Tree preservation and drainage analysis will 

- Page 11 -Item #4.



3 

 

occur during the permitting application phase. No development requirements of the LDC are waived, modified, or 
varied by the approval of this final plat. 
 
TYBEE ISLAND 2021-2026 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE ANALYSIS. This site falls into two character areas of the 
Comprehensive Plan: Fort Screven to the north and Commercial Gateway to the south. The zoning district 
boundaries line up, while not exact, with the boundaries of the character areas for these lots. The Commercial 
Gateway Character Area generally follows the lines of the C-2 zoning district for these lots. The Fort Screven Historic 
District echoes the boundary of the R-1-B zoning district boundary for these lots. The character areas are described 
herein:  
 

The Commercial Gateway Character Area is the gateway to all other character areas in the city. 
It is the main corridor on and off the Island, and includes a wide mix of uses that varies along its 
route. The mix of neighborhood commercial uses include shopping, crafts and art, restaurants, and 
eco-tourism, while there are rentals and homes of various sizes and types scattered throughout 
the area as well. It is a key area for all people on the Island, including residents and visitors. 
 
The Fort Screven Historic District includes Officers Row and all of historic Ft. Screven, which 
represents significant historic, cultural and natural resources. The neighborhood is a unique area 
that includes many uses, including some new, larger scale development, traditional cottages, 
townhomes/condominiums, public uses such Jaycee Park, the Tybee Post Theater and the 
Community Center, historic sites, narrow streets, old growth street trees and public parking. The 
area is listed on the National Register of Historic Places as the Fort Screven Historic District. 

 

Comprehensive Plan – Community Character Area 
Commercial Gateway 

Recommended Development Strategies 
Meets 

Strategy      
Y/N or N/A 

1. Encourage commercial and mixed use development and redevelopment along the US 80 
commercial corridor 

Y  

2. Discourage down-zoning within the US 80 commercial corridor Y 

3. Establish standards for a maximum percentage of residential use on a per parcel basis to 
encourage mixed use 

N/A 

4. Enhance pedestrian movements with streetscape improvements N/A 

5. Allow for the appropriate mix of retail, residential, and tourism related uses consistent with 
the Plan vision 

Y 

6. Implement traffic calming measures and parking improvements N/A 

7. Establish noise and sight buffers between commercial uses and adjacent residential area N/A 

 

Comprehensive Plan – Community Character Area 
Fort Screven  

Recommended Development Strategies 
Meets 

Strategy      
Y/N or N/A 

1. Continue to preserve or restore historic structures whenever possible. Y 

2. Provide appropriate incentives for historic restoration projects as feasible in this area N/A 

3. Identify potential opportunities for adaptive reuse rather than new construction when 
feasible 

N/A 

4. Support an improved bicycle and pedestrian environment with connected facilities. N/A 

5. Consider adoption of architectural standards for historic structures. N/A 

- Page 12 -Item #4.



4 

 

 
STAFF FINDING. The proposed minor subdivision meets the requirements of the Land Development Code of 
Tybee Island. Staff recommends approval. 
 
STAFF CONTACT 
Patricia Sinel, AICP, CFM, CNU-A 
Community Development Director 
Patricia.Sinel@cityoftybee.gov 
912-472-5031 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

A. Subdivision application  
B. Subdivision plat  
C. SAGIS map  

 
 

 
 

 

- Page 13 -Item #4.

mailto:Patricia.Sinel@cityoftybee.gov


- Page 14 -Item #4.



- Page 15 -Item #4.



- Page 16 -Item #4.



- Page 17 -Item #4.



- Page 18 -Item #4.



- Page 19 -Item #4.



- Page 20 -Item #4.



- Page 21 -Item #4.



- Page 22 -Item #4.



- Page 23 -Item #4.



- Page 24 -Item #4.



- Page 25 -Item #4.



- Page 26 -Item #4.



- Page 27 -Item #4.



- Page 28 -Item #4.



- Page 29 -Item #4.



- Page 30 -Item #4.



PLANNING COMMISSION 
NOTICE OF DETERMINATION 

Meeting date: September 16, 2024 

1. Project Name/Description: requesting to combine three lots into two lots - 0
5th Avenue- 40003 11014 - Zone C-2 and R-1-B - William Navon.

Action Requested: SUBDIVISION OF LAND MINOR 

Aooeal 
Subdivision: 

Special Review 
Site Plan Approval 

Sketch Plan Approval _ Conceptual _ 

Variance 
Preliminary Plan Approval _ 
Final Plat Approval _ 

Mao Amendment 
Text Amendment 

Minor Subdivision _x__ Major Subdivision_ 

Petitioner has met all documentation requirements, all external approval requirements, and all 
code requirements, except for the following: 

The Planning Commission Motion on Petition: [8J Approval 

Action on Motion: 
COMMISSIONER FOR AGAINST 

Butler X 
McGruder X CHAIR 

D Denial 

COMMENTS 

Nooney X VICE CHAIR - SECOND 
Matkowski X 
Livingston X 
Rodriguez X MOTION 
Roberts X 

Planning Commission Chair: Date: 

Community Development Director: Date: 

D Continued 

- Page 31 -Item #4.



PLANNING COMMISSION        CITY MANAGER 
Anna Butler      Bret Bell 
Beau Livingston 
Robert J. Matkowski         COMMUNITY 
Elaine McGruder            DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 
Michelle Nooney       Patricia Sinel 
David Roberts 
Marie Rodriguez-Beebe   CITY ATTORNEY 

  Edward M. Hughes/ Tracy O’Connell     

Planning Commission Meeting 
SYNOPSIS 

September 16, 2024 

Chair Elaine McGruder called the meeting to order at 6:30PM, September 16, 2024. Those in 
attendance were Anna Butler, Marie Rodriguez-Beebe, Beau Livingston, Robert 
Matkowski, Michelle Nooney and David Roberts. 

Opening Ceremonies 
Pledge of Allegiance 

Consideration of Minutes: 
June 17, 2024, meeting minutes. Robert Matkowski made a motion to approve. Vice Chair 
Michelle Nooney seconded. The vote to approve was unanimous.  

Disclosures/Recusals: 
There were none. 

Old Business: 
There was none. 

New Business : 
SUBDIVISION OF LAND MINOR: requesting to combine three lots into two lots - 0 5th 
Avenue - 40003 11014 - Zone C-2 and R-1-B - William Navon. Marie Rodriguez-Beebe 
made a motion to approve. Michelle Nooney seconded. Voting in favor were Marie 
Rodriguez-Beebe, Michelle Nooney and Beau Livingston. Voting against was Anna 
Butler, Robert Matkowski and David Roberts. Elaine McGruder broke the tie by 
voting in favor. Motion to approve, 4-3. 

SITE PLAN APPROVAL: requesting to redevelop the wastewater treatment plant 
maintenance facility – 923 Bay Street – 40021 08001 – Zone R-1/NEP – City of Tybee Island. 
Beau Livingston made a motion to approve. Robert Matkowski seconded. The vote was 
unanimous to approve, 6-0. 

Adjournment: 7 :30pm    
Lisa L. Schaaf 

- Page 32 -Item #4.



MAYOR CITY MANAGER 
Brian West Bret Bell 

CITY COUNCIL  ASST CITY MANAGER 
Monty Parks Mayor pro tem Michelle Owens 
Bill Garbett 
Spec Hosti CLERK OF COUNCIL 
Tony Ploughe Jan LeViner 
Nick Sears 
Kathryn Williams CITY ATTORNEY 

Edward M. Hughes 
Tracy O’Connell 

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 
(912) 786-4573 – FAX (912) 786-5737

www.cityoftybee.org 

AMENDED 
PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE 

AMENDMENT 

The Mayor and Council of the City of Tybee Island will hold a Public Hearing at 
the Public Safety Building, 78 Van Horne, on Thursday, October 10, 2024, at 
6:30pm.  

The Purpose of this Hearing is as follows: 

SUBDIVISION OF LAND MINOR: requesting to combine 
three lots into two lots - 0 5th Avenue - 40003 11014 - zone C-2 
and R-1-B - William Navon.  

SITE PLAN APPROVAL: requesting to redevelop the 
wastewater treatment plant maintenance facility – 923 Bay 
Street – 40021 08001 – Zone R-1/NEP – City of Tybee Island. 

Anyone wishing to speak to this issue may do so. It will be necessary to sign a 
Disclosure form before the Hearing. The form is available at City Hall. 

- Page 33 -Item #4.



- Page 34 -Item #4.



- Page 35 -Item #4.



- Page 36 -Item #4.



- Page 37 -Item #4.



- Page 38 -Item #4.



 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION                                                               CITY MANAGER 
Anna Butler                                                      Bret Bell   
Beau Livingston            
Robert J. Matkowski                                                   COMMUNITY 
Elaine McGruder               DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR   
Michelle Nooney                                   Patricia Sinel     
David Roberts         
Marie Rodriguez           CITY ATTORNEY   
        Edward M. Hughes/ Tracy O’Connell   
        

AMENDED 
Planning Commission Meeting AGENDA 

SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 – 6:30 p.m. 
For City Council Meeting October 10, 2024 – 6:30 p.m. 

 
 
Call to order: 
 
Pledge of Allegiance: 
 
Consideration of Minutes: 
   Minutes of June 17, 2024 
 
Disclosures/Recusals: 

 
Old Business: 
 
New Business: 
  

1. SUBDIVISION OF LAND MINOR: requesting to combine three lots into two lots - 0 5th 
Avenue - 40003 11014 - Zone C-2 and R-1-B - William Navon.  

 
2. SITE PLAN APPROVAL: requesting to redevelop the wastewater treatment plant 

maintenance facility – 923 Bay Street – 40021 08001 – Zone R-1/NEP – City of Tybee Island. 
     

 
Adjournment:  
      Lisa L. Schaaf 

 

Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting, or the facilities are 
required to contact Jan LeViner at 912.472.5080 promptly to allow the City to make reasonable accommodations 
for those persons.   
 - Page 39 -Item #4.



- Page 40 -Item #4.



- Page 41 -Item #4.



- Page 42 -Item #4.



File Attachments for Item:

5. Approval of a site plan for the redevelopment of the Wastewater Treatment Plant.  Owner:  

City of Tybee Island.  923 Bay Street.  Zoning:  R-1/NEP

- Page 43 -



1 
 

 

 STAFF REPORT 
 CITY COUNCIL MEETING:  October 10, 2024 
 

 
REQUESTED ACTION: Approval of a site plan for the redevelopment of the Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) 
Maintenance Facility. 
 
LOCATION:  923 Bay Street     PIN:  40021 08001 
 
APPLICANT:  City of Tybee Island (Thomas & Hutton) OWNER:  City of Tybee Island 
 
EXISTING USE:  WWTP Maintenance Facility  PROPOSED USE:  WWTP Maintenance Facility 
 
ZONING:  R-1/NEP USE PERMITTED BY RIGHT:  Yes  
 
COMMUNITY CHARACTER MAP:  North Beach/Maritime District 
 
PROPOSAL:  The applicant is requesting to redevelop the existing WWTP Maintenance Facility using the same 
footprint as the existing WWTP Maintenance Facility. R- 
 
PLANNING COMMISION: The Planning Commission recommended approval of the site plan by a vote of 6-0 at the 
September 16, 2024 regular meeting. 
 

B  
  

Map 1: Zoning Map Map 2: Community Character Map 

- Page 44 -Item #5.



2 
 

SITE PLAN ANALYSIS. The proposed structure uses the same building footprint as the existing maintenance 
structure. Additional improvements include the addition of ADA parking (meeting accessibility requirements), new 
fencing, sidewalk connection, and gravel storage. The structure is over 140 feet from the closest residential lot. 
Water and sewer are available onsite. No trees are expected to be impacted and drainage will remain unchanged 
as this is a developed property.  
 

 
LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE (LDC) ANALYSIS. The site falls into the R-1 Single Family Residential zoning district 
which allows for residential uses compatible and supporting low impact educational, religious, and public 
institutions. Public utility structures are permitted in the R-1 zoning district. This site is also in the North End Parks 

Figure 1: Proposed Site Plan 

Picture 1: Existing structure Map 3: Location Map 

- Page 45 -Item #5.



3 
 

and Public overlay (NEP) which allows for the development of properties in a manner that integrates public uses, 
open space, municipal uses, and recreational uses compatibly into a residential area. Municipal and public safety 
uses are permitted in the NEP ovelay. 
 
Per Section 5-080. - Site plan approval, in considering a site plan, the mayor and council may consider whether the 
proposed development will be unreasonably detrimental to adjacent or nearby uses and whether the proposed 
development will adversely impact existing conditions in the overall neighborhood, including but not limited to:  

• The impact or lack thereof on available resources and utilities. 
• Whether the proposed development is of a scale and mass so as to be compatible with the character of the 

neighborhood. 
• Whether the proposed development is consistent with the character area under the master plan. 
• Density considerations for the neighborhood including demands on infrastructure, traffic, and other 

relevant factors. 
 
No permitting requirements of the LDC are waived, modified, or varied by the approval of this site plan. 
 
TYBEE ISLAND 2021-2026 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE ANALYSIS. This site falls into the North Beach/Maritime 
District character area of the Comprehensive Plan. The character area is described herein:  
 

The North Beach/Maritime District is a varied area that covers much of the northern end of the 
Island. It features a mix of uses and is less densely developed than other areas. It includes 
commercial, recreational, public/government uses and buildings, and a mix of residential styles 
and homes set on narrow streets, as well as the River’s End Campground. In addition to these 
developed portions, the area also includes extensive undeveloped environmentally sensitive areas 
with multi-use trails and public water access. 

  

 
The Comprehensive Plan also reports on the following issues that may be alleviated by this proposed development: 

• The City is inherently limited in space for growth of physical structures: housing, park space, utilities or 
other developments are constrained by the physical footprint of the island, much of which is already built-
out or is environmentally sensitive. 

• The City needs to continue upgrading and replacing wastewater and sewer infrastructure. 
• The City Continue funding substructure for water/sewer plant upgrades and new facilities. 

 
STAFF FINDING. The proposed site plan meets the requirements of the Land Development Code of Tybee Island. 
Staff recommends approval. 

Comprehensive Plan – Community Character Area 
North Beach Maritime District 

Recommended Development Strategies 
Meets 

Strategy      
Y/N or N/A 

1. Allow for the development of retail, restaurants and services for seasonal and year round 
populations 

Y  

2. Ensure preservation of old growth trees, parks and green space. N/A 

3. Support continued development of bicycle infrastructure, including bike lanes and multi-
use trails. 

N/A 

4. Consider the potential for additional parking within this area with transportation to other 
areas of the Island. 

N/A 

5. Improve the pedestrian and bicycle environment N/A 

- Page 46 -Item #5.



4 
 

 
STAFF CONTACT 
Patricia Sinel, AICP, CFM, CNU-A 
Community Development Director 
Patricia.Sinel@cityoftybee.gov 
912-472-5031 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
A. Subdivision application  
B. Subdivision plat  
C. SAGIS property card and map  
D. Planning Commission NOD 
E. Planning Commission Synopsis 
F. Public Notices 

 
 
 

 

- Page 47 -Item #5.

mailto:Patricia.Sinel@cityoftybee.gov


- Page 48 -Item #5.



- Page 49 -Item #5.



- Page 50 -Item #5.



- Page 51 -Item #5.



- Page 52 -Item #5.



- Page 53 -Item #5.



- Page 54 -Item #5.



- Page 55 -Item #5.



- Page 56 -Item #5.



- Page 57 -Item #5.



- Page 58 -Item #5.



- Page 59 -Item #5.



- Page 60 -Item #5.



- Page 61 -Item #5.



- Page 62 -Item #5.



- Page 63 -Item #5.



- Page 64 -Item #5.



- Page 65 -Item #5.



- Page 66 -Item #5.



- Page 67 -Item #5.



- Page 68 -Item #5.



- Page 69 -Item #5.



- Page 70 -Item #5.



- Page 71 -Item #5.



- Page 72 -Item #5.



- Page 73 -Item #5.



- Page 74 -Item #5.



 

  
 
PLANNING COMMISSION                                         CITY MANAGER  
Anna Butler                                                    Bret Bell 
Beau Livingston     
Robert J. Matkowski                          COMMUNITY 
Elaine McGruder                                                                                                                                       DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 
Michelle Nooney                   Patricia Sinel  
David Roberts          
Marie Rodriguez-Beebe                                     CITY ATTORNEY        

   Edward M. Hughes/ Tracy O’Connell                                                                  
                                                                                                           

 
 

Planning Commission Meeting 
 SYNOPSIS  

September 16, 2024 
 
Chair Elaine McGruder called the meeting to order at 6:30PM, September 16, 2024. Those in 
attendance were Anna Butler, Marie Rodriguez-Beebe, Beau Livingston, Robert 
Matkowski, Michelle Nooney and David Roberts. 
 
Opening Ceremonies 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Consideration of Minutes: 
June 17, 2024, meeting minutes. Robert Matkowski made a motion to approve. Vice Chair 
Michelle Nooney seconded. The vote to approve was unanimous.  
 
Disclosures/Recusals: 
There were none. 
 
Old Business: 
There was none. 
 
New Business : 
SUBDIVISION OF LAND MINOR: requesting to combine three lots into two lots - 0 5th 
Avenue - 40003 11014 - Zone C-2 and R-1-B - William Navon. Marie Rodriguez-Beebe 
made a motion to approve. Michelle Nooney seconded. Voting in favor were Marie 
Rodriguez-Beebe, Michelle Nooney and Beau Livingston. Voting against was Anna 
Butler, Robert Matkowski and David Roberts. Elaine McGruder broke the tie by 
voting in favor. Motion to approve, 4-3. 
 
SITE PLAN APPROVAL: requesting to redevelop the wastewater treatment plant 
maintenance facility – 923 Bay Street – 40021 08001 – Zone R-1/NEP – City of Tybee Island. 
Beau Livingston made a motion to approve. Robert Matkowski seconded. The vote was 
unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 
  
Adjournment: 7 :30pm     
Lisa L. Schaaf 
 
 

 

- Page 75 -Item #5.



- Page 76 -Item #5.



- Page 77 -Item #5.



MAYOR                        CITY MANAGER 
Brian West Bret Bell 
 
CITY COUNCIL         ASST CITY MANAGER 
Monty Parks Mayor pro tem       Michelle Owens 
Bill Garbett          
Spec Hosti CLERK OF COUNCIL 
Tony Ploughe Jan LeViner  
Nick Sears   
Kathryn Williams CITY ATTORNEY 
 Edward M. Hughes 
 Tracy O’Connell 

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(912) 786-4573 – FAX (912) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

AMENDED 
PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE 

AMENDMENT 
 
 

The Mayor and Council of the City of Tybee Island will hold a Public Hearing at 
the Public Safety Building, 78 Van Horne, on Thursday, October 10, 2024, at 
6:30pm.  
 
The Purpose of this Hearing is as follows: 
 
 

SUBDIVISION OF LAND MINOR: requesting to combine 
three lots into two lots - 0 5th Avenue - 40003 11014 - zone C-2 
and R-1-B - William Navon.  

 
SITE PLAN APPROVAL: requesting to redevelop the 
wastewater treatment plant maintenance facility – 923 Bay 
Street – 40021 08001 – Zone R-1/NEP – City of Tybee Island. 
 

     
 

Anyone wishing to speak to this issue may do so. It will be necessary to sign a 
Disclosure form before the Hearing. The form is available at City Hall. 

 

- Page 78 -Item #5.



- Page 79 -Item #5.



- Page 80 -Item #5.



 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION                                                               CITY MANAGER 
Anna Butler                                                      Bret Bell   
Beau Livingston            
Robert J. Matkowski                                                   COMMUNITY 
Elaine McGruder               DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR   
Michelle Nooney                                   Patricia Sinel     
David Roberts         
Marie Rodriguez           CITY ATTORNEY   
        Edward M. Hughes/ Tracy O’Connell   
        

AMENDED 
Planning Commission Meeting AGENDA 

SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 – 6:30 p.m. 
For City Council Meeting October 10, 2024 – 6:30 p.m. 

 
 
Call to order: 
 
Pledge of Allegiance: 
 
Consideration of Minutes: 
   Minutes of June 17, 2024 
 
Disclosures/Recusals: 

 
Old Business: 
 
New Business: 
  

1. SUBDIVISION OF LAND MINOR: requesting to combine three lots into two lots - 0 5th 
Avenue - 40003 11014 - Zone C-2 and R-1-B - William Navon.  

 
2. SITE PLAN APPROVAL: requesting to redevelop the wastewater treatment plant 

maintenance facility – 923 Bay Street – 40021 08001 – Zone R-1/NEP – City of Tybee Island. 
     

 
Adjournment:  
      Lisa L. Schaaf 

 

Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting, or the facilities are 
required to contact Jan LeViner at 912.472.5080 promptly to allow the City to make reasonable accommodations 
for those persons.   
 - Page 81 -Item #5.



- Page 82 -Item #5.



- Page 83 -Item #5.



- Page 84 -Item #5.



File Attachments for Item:

6. Treylor Park Beach Party Inc, 1311 Butler Ave

Entertainment and Alcohol License Request: Liquor/Beer/Wine--Sunday Sales for consumption 

on premises only. Entertainment during weekend brunch, weekday happy hour/live acoustic 

music

- Page 85 -



- Page 86 -Item #6.



- Page 87 -Item #6.



- Page 88 -Item #6.



- Page 89 -Item #6.



- Page 90 -Item #6.



File Attachments for Item:

7. Merchant Processing Application and Agreement:  Cardconnect

- Page 91 -



    City of Tybee Island 

 
 
 

Memorandum 
 

To: City of Tybee Island City Council   
From: Bret Bell, City Manager  
Date: 9/18/24  
Re: Payment Processing Agreement for Online Facility Reservation System  
 
 
Title  
Payment Processing Agreement for Online Facility Reservation System 
 

 

Action 
Approval of a Card Connect Agreement and Merchant Processing Application with CardPointe 
to allow the public to make and pay for online reservation of City facilities.    
 

Background 
In 2023, City Staff began utilizing CivicRec software on the City’s website to allow for the online 
reservation of City-managed facilities, such as the Guard House, Memorial Park pavilions, and 
beach.  The addition of CardPointe will allow the public to now also pay rental fees when they 
make that reservation online.  
 
 

Facts and Findings 
1. The city currently uses CivicPlus for website hosting services, and CivicRec is a program 

offered by CivicPlus. 
2. The City has received feedback from residents and visitors about expanding services 

offered for online reservations of City facilities and other permits. 
3. An online system benefits staff by increasing productivity, simplifying processes, and 

enhancing overall service quality for both residents, City staff and visitors. 
 

Funding 
CardPointe will assess a 3% card processing fee to the customer during the online payment. 
There is no direct cost to the City. The monthly fees for using the program will come from out of 
budget line 100-1320-52-1200 (Contract Services / Software).  
 

Purchasing Notes 
Tybee’s online facility reservation platform, CivicRec, has established integration with four 
payment gateway companies. Three of those companies were responsive to the City’s request 
to negotiate a payment gateway agreement. Of the three, just one company – CardPointe -- 
could meet the City’s contract terms. CardPointe’s 3% processing fee is in line with industry 
standards, and close to the 2.9% rate assessed for other credit card processing fees in the City. 
The contract was reviewed and approved by the City Attorney’s Office.    
 

Alternatives 
1. Recommended Action Approval of the Card Connect Agreement and Merchant 

Processing Application with CardPointe, which includes a 3% credit card processing fee 
assessed to customers. 

2. Renegotiate contract to assess credit card processing fees to City Government, 
estimated at $1,700 annually. If Council chooses this option, City Manager would 
investigate City payment of all customer credit card processing fees to stay consistent 
across the organization. 

- Page 92 -Item #7.



    City of Tybee Island 

  
3. Prohibit online payments. 

 

Recommendation 
That Council adopts Alternative 1. 

- Page 93 -Item #7.



X

X

Tybee Island

Georgia 31328

403 Butler Avenue

City of Tybee Island

City of Tybee Island

58-6000661

USA

P.O. Box 2749

31328

USA

Tybee Island

Georgia

www.cityoftybee.org 912-786-4573

Local Government

Robyn Rosner

rrosner@cityoftybee.org 912-472-5045

- Page 94 -Item #7.



- Page 95 -Item #7.



- Page 96 -Item #7.



- Page 97 -Item #7.



- Page 98 -Item #7.



- Page 99 -Item #7.



File Attachments for Item:

8. MOU – DNR on Beach Restoration $4,000,000 Appropriation

- Page 100 -



  City of Tybee Island 
 

Memorandum 
 
To: City of Tybee Island City Council   
From: Bret Bell, City Manager  
Date: September 30, 2024  
Re: Beach Renourishment MOU with State of Georgia  
 
 
Title  
MOU with State of Georgia Concerning Beach Renourishment Appropriation 
 
Action 
Adoption of a Memorandum of Understanding with the Georgia Department of Natural 
Resources to receive a $4 million appropriation for the State’s share of the planned 2026 beach 
renourishment.  
 
Background 
Like all barrier islands, Tybee’s Island’s beach experiences steady erosion from wave and wind 
action. Under natural conditions, sediment would flow north to south to nourish Tybee’s ocean-
facing shoreline. However, the Savannah River shipping channel, which undergoes regular 
dredging, limits this natural transfer of sand. As a result, the US Army Corps of Engineers began 
nourishing Tybee’s beach with sand since 1974, with renourishments occurring every six to 
seven years since. 
 
Facts and Findings 

1. The Army Corps of Engineers will conduct the next beach renourishment in 2026. This 
$20 million project requires a 40% local match totaling $8 million. 

2. Following negotiation and lobbying by the City of Tybee and our consultants, AWR 
Strategic and Civic Forward Strategies, the Georgia General Assembly passed a 
FY2025 Budget with a $4 million allocation to cover half of the local match. 

3. The USACE is planning and designing the nourishment project and will request City 
funds at each stage of the project. The City anticipates major funding will be required in 
late 2025 as the Corps prepares to bid the dredging project. 

4. This MOU is a five-year agreement, which will cover from present through the 
renourishment period and allow funds to become available when needed. 

 
Funding 
The City of Tybee is in development of a funding plan for the balance of the local match, totaling 
$4 million, which will include the use of hotel-motel tax proceeds.  
 
Purchasing Notes 
N/A 

- Page 101 -Item #8.



 
Alternatives 

1. Sign the MOU with the State of Georgia to receive the State allocation. 
2. Provide other direction to fund the local match of the beach renourishment. 

 
Recommendation 
Council adopts Alternative 1. 
 
 

- Page 102 -Item #8.



 1 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
BY AND BETWEEN 

THE GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES 
AND CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA 

 
  
 THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made 
by and between the GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES, 
an agency of the State of Georgia (hereinafter referred to as the “Department”), 
and the CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA (hereinafter referred to as the 
“City”). 
 

W I T N E S S E T H: 
 

 WHEREAS, the City is the owner of a certain portion of real property 
known as Tybee Island Beach, (hereinafter “Premises”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Georgia General Assembly in 2024 appropriated 
$4,000,000 (hereinafter “Funds”) to the Department to be used by the City for 
beach restoration; and  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to 1983 GA. CONST., ART. 9, SEC. 3, PARA. 1, the 
Department and the City may contract for any period not exceeding 50 years with 
each other for the provision of services, or for the joint or separate use of 
facilities or equipment; and  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual public benefit 
and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 
 
1.  On or after July 1, 2024, the City may submit to the Department a request for 
payment of the Funds.  Upon receipt of the City’s request, the Department shall 
cause the Funds to be paid to the City for use by the City in connection with its 
beach nourishment activities on the Premises.   
 
2.  The City agrees that the Funds shall be used to help fund Tybee’s cost share 
of the next planned beach nourishment by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.  If 
the City’s planned beach nourishment is canceled or not completed, the City 
shall return any balance remaining from the Funds to the Department.  The City 
shall make all records regarding expenditures of the Funds available for auditing 
purposes to the Department or as directed by the Department.   
 
3.  It is understood and agreed by the parties that the Department shall have no 
liability to the City relating in any way to the Premises.  

- Page 103 -Item #8.



 2 

 
4.  This Agreement shall be for a term of five (5) years beginning on July 1, 2024 
and ending at 11:59 P.M., prevailing legal time in Atlanta, Georgia, on the day 
immediately preceding the fifth (5th) anniversary of the effective date hereof.    
 
5.  Each party hereby certifies that it has complied with, and will continue to 
comply with during the term of this Agreement, the applicable provisions of the 
Georgia Security and Immigration Compliance Act, O.C.G.A. § 13-10-90 et seq.  
 
6.  The parties represent that they have the right, power and authority to enter 
into this Agreement and that no further approvals, permissions, or consents of 
any sort from any persons or entities are necessary for them to enter into this 
Agreement. 
 
7.  No modification of or amendment to this Agreement shall be binding on either 
party hereto unless such modification or amendment shall be in writing and 
signed by authorized representatives of both the Department and the City.   
   
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Department and the City, acting by and 
through their duly authorized hereinafter named officers, have caused these 
presents to be signed, sealed and delivered all as of the date hereof. 

      GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL 
RESOURCES 

                            
     By: _____________________________ 
      Walter Rabon or Designee 
      Commissioner 
 
            
     CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA  
    
            
     By:  _____________________________  
      Brian West 
      Mayor, City of Tybee Island 
        

- Page 104 -Item #8.



File Attachments for Item:

9. Awarding of RFP 2024-779 Historic District Consultant

- Page 105 -



    City of Tybee Island 

 
 
 

Memorandum 
 

To: City of Tybee Island City Council   
From: Bret Bell, City Manager  
Date: 10/2/2024  
Re: Awarding of RFP 2024-779 Historic District Consultant  
 
 
Title  
Fort Screven and North Campbell Historic District Consultant Contract  
 

Action 
Awarding of RFP 2024-779 Historic District Consultant Project to Ward Architecture + Preservation in the 
amount of $30,000.  
 

Background 
In February 2024, Tybee Island Historic Preservation Commission submitted a City Council supported 
application for the 2024 CLG Grant program through the Georgia Department of Community Affairs 
Historic Preservation Division Fund. Tybee Island HPC was publicly awarded the grant on July 29, 2024.  
 
The City received $18,000 in grant funding to complete a project titled “Develop a Local Historic District 
for the Fort Screven National Register Historic District and the North Campbell Neighborhood,” and was 
able to begin work on the grant project on August 7, 2024. Staff issued an RFP to seek consultants to 
assist with the completion of this project, and received one response before the submission deadline.  
 
 

Facts and Findings 
1. The City has previously worked with the responding consultant, completing several successful 

historic preservation projects on Tybee Island. 
2. The consultant is local to the Savannah/Tybee Island Area. 
3. The consultant has extensive knowledge of Tybee Island and the historic preservation efforts. 

 

Funding 
This is a $30,000.00 project, partially funding by the CLG Grant from HPD. The project will span over two 
fiscal years, and is currently in the budget for FY 24-25. The City is responsible for paying for the project 
up front, and will be reimbursed by DCA at various milestones throughout the project. The City’s overall 
contribution to the project is $12,000, with a portion of in-kind services/labor factored in.  
 
The costs associated with this project will come from budget line 100-1320-52-1260 (Main Street).  
 

Purchasing Notes 
Upon legal and DCA review of the RFP packet, this project was publicly posted on the City’s bid website, 
as well as publicized on print and digital advertising means. Staff received one response to the RFP by 
the submission deadline, from Ward Architecture + Preservation.  
 

- Page 106 -Item #9.



    City of Tybee Island 

The review committee consisted of five people, including city staff, a member of the City’s Historic 
Preservation Commission, and an advisor from the Tybee Island Historical Society. All criteria evaluation 
forms are available in this packet.  
 

Alternatives 
1. Recommended Action: Awarding of the RFP 2024-779 Historic District Consultant Project to 

consultant company Ward Architecture + Preservation. 
2. Put the project back out for RFP again, causing delays in the project schedule from DCA. 
3. Decline the response.  

 

Recommendation 
That Council adopts Alternative 1. 

- Page 107 -Item #9.



	
	

	

Historic Preservation Consulting Services Proposal  

LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT   
Tybee Island, Georgia  |  RFP No. 2024-779 

         
 

         
 
 
Offeror:  

      
Ward Architecture + Preservation 
625 East 44th Street 
Savannah, Georgia 31405 
www.wardarch.com 
912 | 596-4240 

With     QUATREFOIL CONSULTING 
312 East 54th Street 
Savannah, Georgia, 31405 
www.quatrefoilsavannah.com 
912 | 547-1940 

 
This proposal outlines the terms and conditions of our agreement.  Ward Architecture, PC (DBA Ward Architecture 
+ Preservation) with Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. shall perform the services outlined in the attached proposal.  Ward 
Architecture, PC agrees to all terms, conditions, and provisions included in the solicitation and will furnish any or all 
items upon which prices are offered at the price set opposite each item within the agreement.  This proposal is 
binding for 45 days from the closing date for the submission date of proposals. 

- Page 108 -Item #9.



	 	
	

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

 
Contents 
 

A. COVER LETTER…………………………………………………………………………………………………..1 

B. PROJECT APPROACH & METHODOLOGY………………………………………………………………….3 

C. PROJECT TEAM…………………………………………………………………………………………………..6 

D. SELECTION CRITERIA…………………………………………………………………………………………..7 

1. Professional Qualifications………………………………………………………………………………..7  

• Firm Descriptions | Ward Architecture + Preservation & Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

• Sarah P. Ward, AICP Resume 

• Robert A. Ciucevich, Resume 

2. Specialized Experience & Technical Competence…………………………………………………..12 

• Tybee Island Historic Resources Survey, Chatham County, Georgia 

• Design Guidelines for the South End Business Overlay District, Tybee Island, Georgia 

• Tybee Island Photographic Archival Record (PAR), Chatham County, Georgia 

3. Schedule and Budget……………………………………………………………………………………..16 

4. References………………………………………………………………………………………………….18 

5. Project Understanding……………………………………………………………………………………19 

6. Quality Assurance…………………………………………………………………………………………19 

 
E. ATTACHMENTS 

1. Attachment A: City of Tybee – Instructions to Respondent Signature Sheet 
2. Attachment B: Contractor Affidavit 
3. Attachment C: OCGA Subsection 50-36-1(e)(2) Affidavit 
4. Attachment D: City of Tybee – Vendor Information 

• W-9 

• City of Savannah Business Tax Certificate 

• Certificate of Insurance 

5. Attachment E: Proposal Sheet 
6. Attachment F: Checklist for Submitting Proposal 

 

- Page 109 -Item #9.



	
	

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

 

	

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

SECTION A 
 

COVER LETTER 

- Page 110 -Item #9.



Cover Letter  |   Section A   |  Page 
	

	
	

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

1	

October 1, 2024 
 
Tybee Island Selection Committee 
c/o Melissa Freeman 
Tybee Island City Hall  
403A Butler Avenue 
Tybee Island, Georgia 31328 
 
Purchasing Agent and Selection Committee, 
 
RE:  Local Historic District - Consulting Services Proposal for Tybee Island, Chatham County, Georgia 
 Introduction | Cover Letter 
 
Ward Architecture + Preservation with Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. is pleased to submit the following proposal in 
response to RFP No. 2024-779 to establish local historic districts for the Fort Screven National Register historic 
district and the North Campbell Neighborhood.   
 
As specialists in the field of historic preservation, our firms are joining efforts to provide the most knowledgeable 
and qualified professionals for this project.  Together, we bring over 40 years of experience working with Georgia’s 
historic properties with a particular focus on Tybee Island, Georgia.  Our proficiency in local historic district planning 
extends to all facets of preservation practice while meeting all the requirements of the Historic Preservation Division 
(HPD) and Historic Preservation Fund (HPF) grants.  Together, we have joined efforts to conduct Section 106 
mitigation efforts to document resources on Tybee Island as well as several historic resource surveys following HPD 
standards and requirements.     
 
Our project team brings a unique blend of experience and competence which exceed the Secretary of the Interior’s 
Professional Qualifications Standards (3 CFR Part 61).  Robert A. Ciucevich is an expert on Tybee Island’s history and 
significant architecture having written Tybee Island: The Long Branch of the South, originally published in 2005, it 
has proven an invaluable resource to historians throughout the state.  He conducted the Phase I and II historic 
resources surveys of the island in 2016-2017, and recently completed the successful nomination of the Savannah 
Beach Town Hall and Auditorium to the National Register of Historic Places (2022), among numerous individual 
properties on the island.  Having performed over 40 HPD grant funded surveys throughout Georgia, he has a strong 
understanding of the grant requirements and stipulations.   
 
As the former City Preservation Officer and Director of Historic Preservation for the Chatham County-Savannah 
Metropolitan Planning Commission (MPC), Sarah Ward has a local perspective and a keen insight into preservation 
planning needs of communities pursuing local historic district designation and design guidelines.  Ms. Ward co-
authored the Design Guidelines Manual for the South End Business Overlay District in an effort by the City of Tybee 
Island and Main Street businesses to help protect their historic identity and provide guidance on how to best 
preserve their resources and make alterations. Through this effort, input from numerous public meetings and 
workshops was collected to develop the design manual available to property owners and businesses.  Successful 
efforts in attaining historic rehabilitation tax incentives for several Fort Screven resources gives her a deep 
understanding of the history of the area as well as its current condition.  She investigated two individual properties 
within the Campbell Subdivision for NRHP eligibility providing her with a sound background on the historical 
development of this adjacent residential area.   
 
Together, Ciucevich and Ward recently created a Photographic Architectural Record (PAR) of 26 historic resources 
for the City of Tybee Island to attain FEMA funds for addressing sea level rise.  Understanding the coastal 
environment and its impacts to historic resources is essential in developing protections and guidelines for 

- Page 111 -Item #9.



Cover Letter  |   Section A   |  Page 
	

	
	

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

2	

development.  Our partnership on previous preservation efforts has been such a success that we continue to look 
for projects where we can work together in the best interest of our clients.  We have found that our collaborative 
style allows for each of our strengths in documentation, research, architectural analysis, local preservation planning, 
and public policy to deliver the best quality products.   
 
In particular, we seek out projects to help preserve Tybee Island because it is a particularly special and vulnerable 
place due to pressures from development and the coastal environment.  The architecture of the island is reflective 
of its local setting, historic uses as a military fort, and later as a resort destination.  It is our hope that our team will 
surpass your expectations for establishing local districts to protect the historic resources within Fort Screven and 
the North Campbell Neighborhood.   
 
We look forward to being a part of this exciting endeavor and appreciate the opportunity to submit the following 
proposal which is binding for 60 days from the closing date for the submission date of proposals. 
 
Thank you, 

 
Sarah P. Ward, AICP 
Preservation Principal and President/CEO

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- Page 112 -Item #9.



	 	 	
	

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

 

	

 
 
 
 

SECTION B 
 

PROJECT APPROACH 
& METHODOLOGY 

 
  

- Page 113 -Item #9.



Project Approach & Methodology  |  Section B   |  Page   
 

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

3 

 

Project Approach & Methodology 
The project seeks to establish a local historic district or districts for the Fort Screven National Register Historic District 
and the North Campbell Neighborhood.  These adjacent historic developments are located on the northern end of 
the island and the study area is identified on Exhibit A of the RFP.  Project components are identified and defined 
in the methodology below.   
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Fort Screven Historic District is listed in the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP).  It encompasses 205 
acres along the northern tip of the island containing the former coastal defense facility established by the U.S. Army 
Corps of Engineers in 1897, expanded through 1946, and the Tybee Lighthouse complex, built in 1867 (Figure 1).   
The NRHP Nomination prepared in 1980 (designated in 1982) identified approximately 106 existing historic 
buildings.  The Phase II Tybee Island Historic Resources Survey completed in 2017 by Robert Ciucevich with 
Quatrefoil Consulting, identified 83 historic resources remaining within the Fort Screven NRHP district at that time.   
 
The North Campbell Neighborhood is comprised of the Campbell Subdivision laid out in an A-shape in 1919 (Figure 
2).  This neighborhood is bound by North Campbell Avenue to the west, Solomon Avenue to the north, Logan Street 
to the south and marshlands on the east.  This area developed as a residential neighborhood immediately adjacent 
to Fort Screven serving as the entryway to the fort at Gate No.1 near the main Guard House along Van Horn Street.  
It contains approximately 18 structures that are 50 years of age or older.   
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Figure 1. Detail of Fort Screven “Property/Sketch” Map, 
1941 (Courtesy of the Tybee Island Historical Society). 

Figure 2. Campbell Subdivison, Fort Screven, Georgia.  
Plat prepared by Gignilliat, C.E. June 25, 1919 for Mrs. 
C.A. Cooper (Plat Record Book 2M, Page 279).   

- Page 114 -Item #9.



Project Approach & Methodology  |  Section B   |  Page   
 

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

4 

SCOPE OF SERVICES   
 
The project will include the following five (5) phases to establish a local historic district and develop design 
guidelines to preserve the historic character of the Fort Screven NRHP Historic District and North Campbell 
Neighborhood.  All work will be undertaken in accordance with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for 
Archaeology and Historic Preservation, which includes the Standards for Preservation Planning and the Standards 
for the Treatment of Historic Properties.    
  

1. A historic windshield survey of the proposed area identifying all buildings 50 years of age or older and 
defining the best boundaries for a local district(s). 

2. A developmental history of the district(s). 

3. Preparation of nomination documents for the local historic districts to include the above findings, 
design guidelines and an updated ordinance.   

4. Education and public engagement about proposed local district(s) and design guidelines obtaining 
input and feedback for inclusion in the ordinance and supporting documents. 

5. Nomination of local historic district(s) for designation through the established public hearing 
process.  

 
Phase 1 | Historic Windshield Survey  
 
Ward Architecture + Preservation with Quatrefoil Consulting, will begin with a preliminary analysis of the survey 
area noting historic resources that are adjacent to the Fort Screven historic district and North Campbell 
neighborhood to determine the most appropriate boundaries for the local historic district.  An index of all properties 
that are 50 years of age or older (constructed before 1975) will be created and used for the basis of a 
reconnaissance-level or “windshield” field survey.  A preliminary public information meeting will be conducted 
during this phase to introduce the team and bring awareness and support for the survey effort. 
 
Currently, 101 historic resources are anticipated within the two historic neighborhoods.  This is an approximate total 
based on the information available using the City of Tybee Island Historic Resources Survey Phase II completed by 
Quatrefoil Consulting in 2017.  Field survey will define this total, accounting for any changes or demolitions that 
have occurred since 2017.  Properties identified for inclusion in the local district (based on age, historic integrity, 
and significance) will be noted on a map and district boundaries determined using the Georgia Historic Resources 
Survey Manual (March 2023) and the National Park Service Bulletin 24.  Based on this evaluation, the historical 
development conducted in Phase 2, and consultation with the Client, it will be determined if one large district or 
two distinct districts should be established.   
 
A detailed index identifying each resource, address, architectural style, building type, date of construction and 
status in the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) will be prepared.  Historical characteristics of the setting, 
streetscape, scale, height, building materials and ancillary features will be captured to develop design guidelines 
specific to the district, along with sample photographs. This document, map, and all deliverables for the project will 
be submitted to the City’s Grant Administrator for the project.   
 
Phase 2 | Developmental History   
 
Background research will be undertaken on each of the distinct areas and significant properties within the Fort 
Screven Historic District and North Campbell Neighborhood.  This information will be used to determine the age of 
resources and their relationship to the district or neighborhood.  The developmental history will help to establish a 
basis for historical significance in local district designation.  A report with the methodology, reconnaissance survey 
index, historical development, and recommendations for future preservation will be provided as a document to 
help support the local district designation.  This draft will be submitted to the City’s Grant Administrator to 
demonstrate progress on the project.   

- Page 115 -Item #9.



Project Approach & Methodology  |  Section B   |  Page   
 

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

5 

 
Phase 3  |  Preparation of Nomination Documents 
 
Upon consultation with the City’s Grant Administrator, community, and HPC, design guidelines will be developed 
in accordance with the Georgia Historic Preservation Division’s (HPD) Preparing Design Guidelines for a Historic 
District, using the reconnaissance survey, background research, and developmental history.  Historical 
characteristics of the setting, streetscape, scale, height, building materials and ancillary features will be defined and 
guidelines for their preservation will be established.  Consultation with the Grant Administrator, community, and 
Tybee Island Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) will determine the most important aspects of preserving the 
historic character of the neighborhoods to guide the nomination, focusing initially on the review of demolition of 
known historic resources.  Design guidelines for alterations, additions and new construction will be developed and 
considered as part of the district nomination (ordinance) or as guidance for property owners.    
 
Results of this effort will be compiled into the draft ordinance for review and comment by the City Attorney via the 
City’s Grant Administrator.  Comments will be incorporated into the ordinance which will then be provided to the 
City’s Grant Administrator for circulation to the Georgia HPD, Tybee Island HPC, Tybee Island Historical Society 
(TIHS), Planning Commission, and City Council.   
 
Phase 4 | Education and Public Engagement 
 
Concurrent with drafting the design guidelines and ordinance in Phase 3 above, public input will be collected from 
property owners and residents for consideration and incorporation.  This phase will include assisting city staff with 
a minimum of two community meetings or workshops to gain insight and input from property owners as well as to 
provide background on the significance of these historic neighborhoods and historic preservation strategies as 
redevelopment tools.  Additional educational tools will be developed by the City’s Grant Administrator, with 
assistance from our preservation team, will utilize social media and the city website, visual presentations, hard copy 
informational materials for distribution and public posting, and a walking tour.   
 
Phase 5  |  Nomination of Local Historic District(s) for Designation 
 
This phase will focus on finalizing the local historic district nominations and design guidelines for final designation 
at public meetings.  Once the steps above have been completed, the district nomination(s) and design guidelines 
will be updated and recommendations from reviewing agencies and bodies incorporated into the nomination 
ordinance for review by the City Attorney.  Once finalized, the local historic district nomination(s) and design 
guidelines will be presented to the Planning Commission and City Council for review, recommendation and 
approval.   
 
 

- Page 116 -Item #9.



	 	 	
	

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

 

	

 
 
 
 

SECTION C 
 

PROJECT TEAM 
 
 

 
 
 
  

- Page 117 -Item #9.



Project Team  |  Section C   |  Page   
 

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

6 

 
Project Team Members 

Key personnel involved with the local historic district designation and all phases of the scope are provided below.  
Sarah Ward will serve as the project director for the team and the primary contact for the City’s Grant Administrator.  
Firm descriptions and resumes are on the pages that follow in this section. 
Sarah P. Ward, AICP 
Project Director and Preservation Professional 
Ward Architecture + Preservation 
 
625 East 44th Street 
Savannah, Georgia 31405 
Cell: 912 | 596-4240 
Email: sward@wardarch.com 
 
Robert A. Ciucevich, MHP 
Preservation Professional  
Quatrefoil Historic Preservation Consulting 
 
312 East 54th Street 
Savannah, Georgia 31405 
Cell: 912 | 547-1940 
Email: racquatrefoil@aol.com 

 

 
 
 
 

- Page 118 -Item #9.



	 	 	
	

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

 

	

 
 
 
 

SECTION D 
 

SELECTION CRITERIA 
 

 
 
 
 

 

  

- Page 119 -Item #9.



Selection Criteria   |  Section D   |   Page 
 

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

7	

Professional Qualifications 

      
 

 
Ward Architecture + Preservation and Quatrefoil Historic Preservation 

Consulting are collaborating to bring you the most experienced and 

knowledgeable team of historic resource survey professionals in southeastern 

Georgia.  Our combined staff bring over 50 years of experience in the field of 

Historic Preservation focused on Georgia’s history.   

 

Our partnership on previous survey projects has been such a success that we 

continue to seek out projects where we can work together in the best interest of 

our clients.  We have found that our collaborative style allows for each of our 

strengths in survey, research, architectural analysis and national register 

planning to deliver the best quality products.  This allows us to focus on the goals 

of the project while providing additional quality control measures by utilizing 

our preservation technicians who are experienced writers and architectural 

historians. 

 

Descriptions of our firms are on the following two pages which outline our 

origins and capabilities.  We look forward to working with the City of Tybee 

Island to establish its first local historic district(s). 

 
 

 

  

- Page 120 -Item #9.



Selection Criteria   |  Section D   |   Page 
 

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

8	

    
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Ward Architecture, PC (doing business as Ward Architecture + Preservation) is a small 

firm focused on preservation of historic resources through planning and rehabilitation 

solutions to meet our client’s needs and provide compatible and appropriate results for 

our built environment.  Based in Savannah, Georgia, our clientele includes government 

agencies and communities, property owners, and preservation-minded real estate 

developers in coastal Georgia.  Our services and products include historic resource 

surveys, local historic district guidelines, historical research and building conditions 

assessments, rehabilitation plans, design and construction documents, historic 

preservation tax credit applications, National Register of Historic Places nominations, and 

documentation of historic structures.    

 

Formed from a family partnership in 2010, our business is comprised of individual 

expertise in architecture and historic preservation providing a solid foundation for 

collaboration with clients and consultants.  The firm leadership has over 24 years of 

experience in the field of historic preservation, design, and architecture focused in 

Georgia, South Carolina, and Florida.  Our staff has participated in numerous successful 

cultural and historic resource surveys throughout coastal Georgia and Florida.  

Experience with identification and survey of historic resources, the National Register of 

Historic Places, and Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act, provides a 

strong foundation for documentation and protection of historic properties.  All staff 

members maintain Master of Fine Arts Degrees in Historic Preservation and exceed the 

National Park Service Professional Qualification Standards for historic preservation 

published in the Code of Federal Regulations, 36 CFR Part 61.   

 

Our location in the Ardsley Park-Chatham Crescent National Register historic district 

within Savannah, Georgia, provides our firm and team of specialized consultants a strong 

foundation for understanding historic resources.   Our firm is licensed to practice 

architecture in the states of Georgia and South Carolina with a business tax certificate for 

the City of Savannah.  Proficiency in software programs such as AutoCAD, Revit, ArcMAP, 

Adobe Suite, and Microsoft Office products enable Ward Architecture to provide 

accurate and detailed reports.  Drafting capabilities allow for the precise documentation 

of historic structures, their site, and architectural details.   

- Page 121 -Item #9.



Selection Criteria   |  Section D   |   Page 
 

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

9	

QUATREFOIL CONSULTING 

 

 

Quatrefoil Consulting has been at the forefront of the historic preservation field in Georgia since 1995.  Our 
professional staff members have completed a diverse range of projects and participated in historic preservation-
related activities on behalf of cities, counties, federal agencies, community groups, and private individuals.   

All staff members meet the qualifications and standards set forth in the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards and 
Guidelines for Archeology and Historic Preservation (36 CFR, Part 66, Appendix C).  Our staff members have dealt 
extensively with a variety of issues complying with federal and state historic preservation laws, grants, guidelines, 
and procedures such as the U.S. Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation and Guidelines for 
Rehabilitating Historic Buildings, the Section 106 review process, and the National Register of Historic Places (NR) 
Criteria for Evaluation. 

Quatrefoil Consulting is a full-service historic preservation firm with 29 years of experience serving communities and 
local governments throughout the state.  Our staff has conducted a significant number of surveys and analysis 
projects that have involved the identification, evaluation, and documentation of commercial, residential, 
institutional, and industrial resources.  Additionally, we have extensive related experience participating in local 
preservation efforts such as writing preservation plans, working with local preservation ordinances, coordinating 
public workshops, promoting historic preservation locally and regionally, preparing design guidelines, completing 
federal and state tax credit applications, and evaluating local designations.  

Quatrefoil Consulting was established as a sole proprietorship in 1995 by Robert A. Ciucevich, providing quality 
historic preservation planning consulting services to the coastal and southeast Georgia area.  With professional and 
business contacts throughout Georgia, Quatrefoil Consulting has expanded to meet the growing regional demand 
for a mobile, full service historic preservation planning firm.  The home office of Quatrefoil Consulting is located in 
Savannah, Georgia and is licensed to practice historic preservation in the state of Georgia with a business tax 
certificate for the City of Savannah. 

 

 

- Page 122 -Item #9.



Selection Criteria   |  Section D   |   Page 
 

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

10	

SARAH P. WARD, AICP, LEED AP 
Preservation Principal + President 

 

 

 

 

Sarah Ward, AICP is the CEO and Preservation Principal for Ward 
Architecture + Preservation. She specializes in historic building assessments, 
rehabilitation plans, historic tax credits, national preservation standards & 
guidelines, documentation and research.  Sarah has over 24 years of 
preservation experience in the Southeast.  

 

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 

2013  - Present Preservation Principal & President/CEO: Ward Architecture + Preservation, Savannah, 
Georgia.  

2005 – 2013 Director of Historic Preservation, City Preservation Officer, Historic Preservation Planner, 
and Historic Preservation Specialist: Metropolitan Planning Commission, Savannah, 
Georgia. Staff to the Historic District Board of Review (HDBR) and local historic districts. 

2003 – 2005 Senior Architectural Historian: Archaeological Consultants Inc., Sarasota, Florida.  A 
cultural resource management (CRM) firm specializing in historic resource survey. 

2001 – 2003 Preservation Specialist: Design, Development, & Preservation Division of the City of 
Charleston, South Carolina.  Staff to the Board of Architectural Review (BAR). 

2000 – 2001 Preservation Planning Consultant: Coastal Heritage Society, Savannah, Georgia.   

EDUCATION 

M.F.A.  2001   Savannah College of Art and Design (SCAD), Savannah, Georgia, Historic Preservation 

B.A.  1998  University of Tennessee, Knoxville, Art History 

HONORS & AFFILIATIONS 

Fox Theatre Institute:  Preservation Grant Committee, 2018 - present 

Historic Savannah Foundation Preservation Award: Fort Screven Bowling Alley at Library at 5 Cedarwood Drive, 
Louis S. Harford House at 208 West 40th Street, and Brunner-Heitman-Park House at 12 West 38th Street (2023); 
Emma Miscally House at 920 East Anderson Street and Persse Pharmacy and Corner Store at 1813-1821 Bull 
Street (2022); Benjamin Wilson House at 432 Abercorn Street (2021); Enlisted Men’s Barracks at 15 Meddin 
Drive, Tybee Island (2020); Brigham Apartments at 245 Bull Street, Fort Screven Commissary and 
Quartermaster’s Office at 34 Van Horn Street, and Curry-Miller-Byrd Boarding House at 16 Izlar Avenue (2019); 
20 West Taylor Street and 217 West 36th Street (2018); Hermes’-Gottlieb’s Bakery at 1601 Bull Street (2017); 148 
Price Street, Savannah (2016). 

Tybee Island Historical Society: 2020 Excellence in Historic Preservation award for the Fort Screven Commissary 
and Quartermaster’s Office and the Enlisted Men’s Barracks. 

Georgia Trust for Historic Preservation: 2018 Excellence in Rehabilitation award for the Hermes’-Gottlieb’s 
Bakery at 1601 Bull Street, Savannah. 

Savannah Chapter of the American Institute of Architects: Citation of Excellence. 

- Page 123 -Item #9.



Selection Criteria   |  Section D   |   Page 
 

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

11	

 

 
 

 
ROBERT A. CIUCEVICH, MHP 
Principal & Owner | Quatrefoil Consulting 

 
 
PROFESSIONAL SUMMARY 
Robert A. Ciucevich is the principal and owner of Quatrefoil Historic Preservation Consulting, a full-service historic 
preservation consulting firm founded by Mr. Ciucevich in 1995 in his hometown of Savannah, Georgia.  Our 
professional staff members have completed a diverse range of projects and participated in historic preservation 
related activities on behalf of cities, counties, federal agencies, community groups, and private individuals.  Mr. 
Ciucevich has over 29 years of experience in the field of historic preservation focused in Georgia and neighboring 
states.  He has considerable expertise and experience in conducting historic resources surveys, preparation of 
National Register of Historic Places nominations, historic preservation tax incentives, Section 106 Review, 
evaluations of significance based on local and national criteria, and research and documentation.  Mr. Ciucevich’s 
professional experience and education exceeds the National Park Service Professional Qualification Standards for 
historic preservation published in the Code of Federal Regulations, 36 CFR Part61.  

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 

1995 - Present Principal and owner of Quatrefoil Historic Preservation Consulting, Savannah, Georgia.  

2000 – 2003 Historic Preservation Planner, Middle Georgia Regional Development Center, Macon, 
Georgia.  

1994 – 1995  Free-lance historic preservation consultant, Athens, Georgia. 

EDUCATION 

M.H.P.  1998    University of Georgia, Athens, Georgia, Historic Preservation, Historic Preservation 

B.A.  1990  University of Georgia, Athens, Georgia, Political Science 

RECENT HONORS & AFFILIATIONS 

Historic Preservation Division, Georgia Department of Natural Resources, 2007 Preservation Achievement 
Award 

Tybee Island Historical Society, 2006 Preservation Achievement Award 

Alpha Chapter of Sigma Pi Kappa (University of Georgia), 2011 Alumni Achievement Award/Preservation 
Professional 

Tybee Island Historical Society Board of Directors 2010 - 2011  

Historic Savannah Foundation, Preservation Award for the Heyward Apartments (2013), 401 East Waldburg 
Street (2013), Abrahams-Levy Cottage, Tybee Island (2018), and 12 West Oglethorpe/Husk, 
Savannah (2018) 

 

- Page 124 -Item #9.



Selection Criteria   |  Section D   |   Page 
 

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

12	

Specialized Experience & Technical Competence 

Together, Ward Architecture + Preservation and Quatrefoil Consulting have the most experience working to 
preserve Tybee Islands historic resources of any professional team.  Sarah Ward and Bob Ciucevich have worked 
on numerous historic rehabilitation tax incentive projects on Tybee Island and continue to seek out preservation 
projects on the island due to our desire to see the retention of its historic character as a unique and special place.  
Ciucevich has worked to individually designate many “Raised Tybee Cottages” to the National Register of Historic 
Places (NRHP), a unique building type that he identified and defined for the Georgia Historic Preservation Division.  
The NRHP designation, individual or through a district, allows property owners to obtain state and federal tax 
incentives when undertaking a substantial rehabilitation of a historic property following the Secretary of the Interior’s 
Standards for Rehabilitation.  Sarah Ward has worked extensively in the Fort Screven National Register historic 
district to obtain these incentives on several properties in need of significant preservation work serving as a catalyst 
for surrounding improvements.  Through these efforts, Ciucevich and Ward have an unmatched knowledge and 
understanding of the architectural features and characteristics which define the north end of Tybee Island.  Sample 
projects highlighting our efforts are listed below and summarized on the following pages.   
 

1. Tybee Island Historic Resources Survey, Phase I and II, Chatham County, Georgia.  Similar to the Tybee 
Island Local Historic District Consultant request, Tybee Island surveys were federal grant funded projects 
administered by the state historic preservation office that required meeting specific deadlines, 
methodology measures, and coordination and approval from the Georgia Historic Preservation Division.  
Due to the number of resources, the survey was divided into two phases: the first phase documenting the 
south end of the island and the second phase documenting the north end, north of Butler Avenue.  The 
Phase II survey report specifically recommended that at a local historic district be established for the north 
end of the island, including Fort Screven and resources along Highway 80.   
 

2. Design Guidelines for the South End Business Overlay District, Tybee Island, Georgia.  This project, 
also partially funded by the National Park Services through Georgia’s Historic Preservation Division grant 
program, required extensive community workshops and official public meetings by the Historic 
Preservation Commission, Planning Commission, and City Council.  Efforts focused on listening to 
community concerns to retain the historic character of the commercial area while balancing the need for 
flexibility and limiting government oversight.   
 

3. Tybee Island Photographic Permanent Archival Record (PAR), Chatham County, Georgia.  The 
Federal Emergency Management Agency issued grant proposals to provide assistance to the City of Tybee 
Island and property owners to help alter buildings vulnerable to impacts from sea level rise and flooding.  
As a federally funded undertaking, this required mitigation to document all historic properties 50-years old 
or older creating an archival record of their existing condition prior to modifications (elevation). 
 

  

- Page 125 -Item #9.



Selection Criteria   |  Section D   |   Page 
 

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

13	

 
 
 
 

 

 

   
DESCRIPTION 

Quatrefoil Historic Preservation Consulting conducted a comprehensive Historic Resource Survey of Tybee Island, 
Georgia in two phases from 2016 - 2017.  This multi-phased survey documented and identified 835 historic resources on 
the entire island including three historic districts listed in the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP).   Properties 40 
years of age or older retaining historic integrity were documented, surveyed, and recorded through the Georgia’s Natural, 
Archaeological, and Historic Resource GIS (GNAHRGIS) database.  Phase I of the survey encompassed the section of 
the island traditionally associated with the resort, which is made up of the South End and central section of the island 
south of Second Street.  Phase II focused on the resources on the island’s North End including those properties along 
Highway 80 and the Fort Screven National Register Historic District.   The resulting survey, including the methodology, 
developmental history, survey results, analysis, and recommendations, was presented to the local Tybee Island Historic 
Preservation Commission to assist with their planning goals, identify any properties that could be considered historic, and 
make recommendations on NRHP eligibility as well as future survey opportunities.   Resulting recommendations included 
the establishment of two local historic districts, a National Register historic district encompassing the South End and 
central resort area, and a NRHP Multiple Property Nomination for the “Raised Tybee Cottage” building type unique to 
the island.  This project was partially funded by the National Park Service through grants administered by the Historic 
Preservation Division of the Georgia Department of Community Affairs. 

REFERENCE 

Sarah Jones 
Executive Director 
Tybee Island Historical Society 
(912) 786-5801 
Sarah@tybeelighthouse.org 
  

 

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND HISTORIC RESOURCE SURVEY  

City of Tybee Island, Chatham County, Georgia 

Phases I and II  |  835 Historic Resources 

Field Work & Report Completed 2016 - 2017 

 

- Page 126 -Item #9.



Selection Criteria   |  Section D   |   Page 
 

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

14	

 
 
 
 
 

     
DESCRIPTION 

Ward Architecture + Preservation partnered with Lominack Kolman Smith Architects to develop a preservation 

ordinance and design guidelines for the South End Business Overlay District on Tybee Island, Georgia.  This effort 

was undertaken to assist the Tybee Island Historic Preservation Commission and Tybee Island Development 

Authority/Main Street program with the protection and preservation of the island’s historic commercial corridor 

along Tybrisa and adjacent streets.  As commercial properties are particularly vulnerable to changes and heavy use, 

guidance was developed to identify significant characteristics that define the area and all historic resources 50 years 

of age or older through a reconnaissance-level survey and extensive community workshops.  Through an extensive 

public meeting process with property owners, Main Street Board, Tybee Island Historical Society, Tybee Island 

Historic Preservation Commission, Planning Commission, and City Council, an ordinance was developed and 

adopted requiring review and approval of demolition and relocation requests of historic properties identified 

during the reconnaissance.   A Design Guidelines Manual was developed for the South End Business Overlay District 

to assist property owners with preserving materials, making alterations, and constructing additions within the 

district.  These efforts were partially funded by the National Park Service and administered through the Georgia’s 

Historic Preservation Division grants program available to Certified Local Governments.  

REFERENCE 
George Shaw, Planning Manager 
City of Tybee Island 
403 Butler Avenue 
Tybee Island, Georgia 31328 
gshaw@cityoftybee.org 
(912) 472-5031 

 

DESIGN GUIDELINES FOR THE  
SOUTH END BUSINESS OVERLAY DISTRICT 
City of Tybee Island, Chatham County, Georgia 
Completed 2019 
 

- Page 127 -Item #9.



Selection Criteria   |  Section D   |   Page 
 

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

15	

 
 
 
 
 

     

     
DESCRIPTION 
Quatrefoil Consulting and Ward Architecture + Preservation created a photographic permanent architectural 

record of historic resources for the City of Tybee Island, Georgia as part of grant application and for multiple 

properties on Tybee Island to help mitigate potential adverse effects.  This work was the result of a Federal 

Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) grant to elevate structures out of the flood plain in the coastal setting.  

This federal undertaking required compliance with Section 106 of the Historic Preservation Act of 1966 and the 

Statewide Programmatic Agreement through the Georgia Historic Preservation Division (HPD).  Through this effort, 

26 properties were fully documented per the Georgia Guidelines for Establishing a Photographic Permanent 

Archival Record. This included exterior photographs of all sides of the property, a sketch roof plan, maps, physical 

description, and evaluation of historical significance printed on archival paper and stored in archival folders as well 

as a digital record of each property to be stored with the City of Tybee Island and the HPD.  This project was part of 

an ongoing effort by the City of Tybee Island to address adverse effects outlined in the Tybee Island Sea-Level Rise 

Adaptation Plan published in 2016. 

REFERENCE 
George Shaw, Community Development Director 
City of Tybee Island 
403 Butler Avenue 
Tybee Island, Georgia 31328 
gshaw@cityoftybee.org 
(912) 484 - 7821 
 

 

TYBEE PERMANENT ARCHITECTURAL RECORD (PAR) 
City of Tybee Island, Chatham County, Georgia 
Completed 2022 
 

- Page 128 -Item #9.



Selection Criteria   |  Section D   |   Page 
 

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

16	

Schedule and Budget 

SCHEDULE 
 
All information outlined in Section B (Project Approach and Methodology) will be provided to the Tybee Island 
Grant Administrator on the due dates as specified in the Local Historic District Consultant RFP.  Our full time, 
professional staff of historic preservation planners have the experience to ensure that the project will be completed 
on time and within budget.   
 

January 24, 2025 Phase 1: Local Historic Resources Inventory, Updated Index, Map, and Public 
Meeting. 

March 7, 2025 Phase 2: Developmental History, including Background Research. 

March 28, 2025 Phase 3: Preparation of Nomination including the final survey report, all work from 
Phases 1 and 2, significance, methodology, and recommendations. 

May 23, 2025 Phase 3: Preparation of the Nomination including the first draft designation 
ordinance and preliminary design guidelines.   

June-August 2025 Phase 4: Assist with public workshops and meetings for education and public 
engagement.  

September 12, 2025 Phase 5: Incorporate all review and public comments and prepare final 
designation ordinance and design guidelines.  Designation to occur in October 
through November 2025. 

The project schedule as outlined above notes approximate task completion on a 12-month calendar and is based 
on an estimated starting date of November 1, 2024.   
 
 
BUDGET 
 
The services described in the preceding proposal will be provided for the fee of $30,000. 
This fee is based on the amount of work necessary to complete the project goals at the schedule deadlines above.    
Ward Architecture and Quatrefoil Consulting will conduct a “windshield” reconnaissance survey of approximately 
101 resources constructed before 1975 and determine a local historic district boundary or boundaries if two distinct 
districts are apparent.  A report will be developed to establish the historical significance and designate the local 
historic district(s).  This information will be used to assist with community workshops and public meetings to obtain 
important input from property owners, businesses, residents and review bodies.  All will be incorporated into the 
final designation ordinance and design guidelines for the Fort Screven historic district and the North Campbell 
Avenue neighborhood.  
 
The proposed budget is based on the identified five (5) phases of work:  

Phase 1: Windshield Survey 
Phase 2: Developmental History 
Phase 3: Preparation of Nomination Documents 
Phase 4: Education and Public Engagement 
Phase 5: Nomination of Local Historic District(s) 

 
Phase 1:   Windshield Survey  

Labor:  7 hours for survey x 2 Historic Preservation (HP) Planners      $1,400.00 
 8 hours for index and building/boundary map x 2 HP Planners $1,600.00 
 10 hours for GNAHRGIS update x 2 HP Planners   $2,000.00    
Total for Phase 1 (50 hours @ $100/hour)            $5,000.00 

- Page 129 -Item #9.



Selection Criteria   |  Section D   |   Page 
 

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

17	

Phase 2:   Developmental History    
Labor: 10 hours for background research x 2 HP Planners   $2,000.00 
 10 hours for report preparation x 2 HP Planners   $2,000.00  

 Total for Phase 2  (40 hours @ $100/hour)                            $4,000.00 
 
Phase 3:  Preparation of Nomination 

Labor: 55 hours x 2 Historic Preservation Planners                   $11,000.00  
 Total for Phase 3 (110 hours @ $100/hour)        $11,000.00 
 
Phase 4:  Education and Public Engagement 

Labor: 27.5 hours x 2 Historic Preservation Planners                  $5,500.00 
Expenses:  Visual aids, boards, hard copy materials       $500.00  

 Total for Phase 3 (55 hours @ $100/hour plus expenses)      $6,000.00 
 
Phase 5:  Nomination of Local Historic District(s) 

Labor: 20 hours x 2 Historic Preservation Planners                   $4,000.00  
 Total for Phase 3 (40 hours @ $100/hour)        $4,000.00 
 
Total for Local Historic District Consulting               $30,000.00  
 
 
  

- Page 130 -Item #9.



Selection Criteria   |  Section D   |   Page 
 

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

18	

References 

Luciana M. Spracher, C.A. 
Municipal Archives Director 
City of Savannah 
P.O. Box 1027 
Savannah, Georgia 31402 
(912) 663-7075 
Lspracher@savannahga.gov 
 
Project Description: National Register of Historic Places Designations for the Savannah Water Works Pump House 
and the Springfield Terrace School 
 
 
 
Susan Adler, MA 
CEO & President 
Historic Savannah Foundation 
321 E. York Street 
Savannah, Georgia 31401 
(912) 233-7787 
sadler@myhsf.org 
 
Project Description: National Register of Historic Places Designation for the Kiah Museum 
 
 
 
Mayor R. Allen Haywood 
Sparta-Hancock Development Authority 
City of Sparta  
P.O. Box H 
Sparta, GA 31087 
(706) 444-5753 office 
spartamayor@bellsouth.net 
 
Project Description: Historic Resource Survey for Sparta, Georgia 

 
  

- Page 131 -Item #9.

mailto:Lspracher@savannahga.gov
mailto:spartamayor@bellsouth.net


Selection Criteria   |  Section D   |   Page 
 

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

	

19	

Project Understanding 

As provided in Section B of this proposal, our team has a full understanding of the project requirements and the 
work necessary to designate the Fort Screven historic district and North Campbell neighborhood as local historic 
districts, either together as one or as two distinct areas.  As a former municipal planner in Charleston, South Carolina 
and Savannah, Georgia and continued member of the American Institute of Certified Planners, Ms. Ward has first-
hand experience in working with local historic districts both in their designation and everyday practice.  Working 
with property owners, residents, and businesses is an essential part to any successful designation effort and is an 
integral part of this scope of work.  The same is true for working with appointed commission members and elected 
offices.  Both Mr. Ciucevich and Ms. Ward work continuously on state and federal designations of individual 
properties and historic districts and have a strong understanding of what makes these resources significance 
including their collective characteristics and architectural features.  This information will be used to develop design 
guidelines specifically tailored to the local districts with community input.   

 

Quality Assurance 

Together Ward Architecture + Preservation and Quatrefoil Consulting, Inc. have internal control measures for 
ensuring that our deliverables and products are of the highest quality.   We are each small businesses whose 
reputations are dependent on “word-of-mouth” and recommendations from our clients.  As such, it is extremely 
important that we work to exceed expectations, often extending our scopes to ensure their satisfaction.  Having 
done over 40 HPD grant-funded projects, we are able to demonstrate our ability to meet quality requirements of 
Georgia’s  Historic Preservation Division and their rigorous review process and deadlines.  As planners, we are well-
experienced in public meetings to help advocate for historic preservation and present preservation-related zoning 
changes. We are happy to provide full samples of any of our prior projects to further demonstrate our quality 
assurance to you.

- Page 132 -Item #9.



	 	 	
	

 
TYBEE LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT      |      Ward Architecture + Preservation  &  Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. 

 

	

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

SECTION E 
 

ATTACHMENTS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
	

- Page 133 -Item #9.



- Page 134 -Item #9.



- Page 135 -Item #9.



- Page 136 -Item #9.



- Page 137 -Item #9.



Form  W-9
(Rev. March 2024)

Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification

Department of the Treasury  
Internal Revenue Service Go to www.irs.gov/FormW9 for instructions and the latest information.

Give form to the  
requester. Do not 
send to the IRS.

Before you begin. For guidance related to the purpose of Form W-9, see Purpose of Form, below.

P
ri

nt
 o

r 
ty

p
e.

 
S

ee
 S

p
ec

if
ic

 In
st

ru
ct

io
n

s 
on

 p
ag

e 
3.

1    Name of entity/individual. An entry is required. (For a sole proprietor or disregarded entity, enter the owner’s name on line 1, and enter the business/disregarded 
entity’s name on line 2.)

2    Business name/disregarded entity name, if different from above.

3a  Check the appropriate box for federal tax classification of the entity/individual whose name is entered on line 1. Check 
only one of the following seven boxes. 

Individual/sole proprietor C corporation S corporation Partnership Trust/estate

LLC. Enter the tax classification (C = C corporation, S = S corporation, P = Partnership) . . . .
Note: Check the “LLC” box above and, in the entry space, enter the appropriate code (C, S, or P) for the tax 
classification of the LLC, unless it is a disregarded entity. A disregarded entity should instead check the appropriate 
box for the tax classification of its owner.

Other (see instructions) 

3b If on line 3a you checked “Partnership” or “Trust/estate,” or checked “LLC” and entered “P” as its tax classification, 
and you are providing this form to a partnership, trust, or estate in which you have an ownership interest, check 
this box if you have any foreign partners, owners, or beneficiaries. See instructions . . . . . . . . .

4  Exemptions (codes apply only to 
certain entities, not individuals; 
see instructions on page 3):

Exempt payee code (if any)

Exemption from Foreign Account Tax 
Compliance Act (FATCA) reporting 
 code (if any)

(Applies to accounts maintained 
outside the United States.)

5    Address (number, street, and apt. or suite no.). See instructions.

6    City, state, and ZIP code

Requester’s name and address (optional)

7    List account number(s) here (optional)

Part I Taxpayer Identification Number (TIN)
Enter your TIN in the appropriate box. The TIN provided must match the name given on line 1 to avoid 
backup withholding. For individuals, this is generally your social security number (SSN). However, for a 
resident alien, sole proprietor, or disregarded entity, see the instructions for Part I, later. For other 
entities, it is your employer identification number (EIN). If you do not have a number, see How to get a 
TIN, later.

Note: If the account is in more than one name, see the instructions for line 1. See also What Name and 
Number To Give the Requester for guidelines on whose number to enter.

Social security number

– –

or
Employer identification number 

–

Part II Certification
Under penalties of perjury, I certify that:

1. The number shown on this form is my correct taxpayer identification number (or I am waiting for a number to be issued to me); and
2. I am not subject to backup withholding because (a) I am exempt from backup withholding, or (b) I have not been notified by the Internal Revenue 

Service (IRS) that I am subject to backup withholding as a result of a failure to report all interest or dividends, or (c) the IRS has notified me that I am 
no longer subject to backup withholding; and

3. I am a U.S. citizen or other U.S. person (defined below); and

4. The FATCA code(s) entered on this form (if any) indicating that I am exempt from FATCA reporting is correct.

Certification instructions. You must cross out item 2 above if you have been notified by the IRS that you are currently subject to backup withholding 
because you have failed to report all interest and dividends on your tax return. For real estate transactions, item 2 does not apply. For mortgage interest paid, 
acquisition or abandonment of secured property, cancellation of debt, contributions to an individual retirement arrangement (IRA), and, generally, payments 
other than interest and dividends, you are not required to sign the certification, but you must provide your correct TIN. See the instructions for Part II, later.

Sign 
Here

Signature of 
U.S. person Date

General Instructions
Section references are to the Internal Revenue Code unless otherwise 
noted.

Future developments. For the latest information about developments 
related to Form W-9 and its instructions, such as legislation enacted 
after they were published, go to www.irs.gov/FormW9.

What’s New
Line 3a has been modified to clarify how a disregarded entity completes 
this line. An LLC that is a disregarded entity should check the 
appropriate box for the tax classification of its owner. Otherwise, it 
should check the “LLC” box and enter its appropriate tax classification.

New line 3b has been added to this form. A flow-through entity is 
required to complete this line to indicate that it has direct or indirect 
foreign partners, owners, or beneficiaries when it provides the Form W-9 
to another flow-through entity in which it has an ownership interest. This 
change is intended to provide a flow-through entity with information 
regarding the status of its indirect foreign partners, owners, or 
beneficiaries, so that it can satisfy any applicable reporting 
requirements. For example, a partnership that has any indirect foreign 
partners may be required to complete Schedules K-2 and K-3. See the 
Partnership Instructions for Schedules K-2 and K-3 (Form 1065).

Purpose of Form
An individual or entity (Form W-9 requester) who is required to file an 
information return with the IRS is giving you this form because they

Cat. No. 10231X Form W-9 (Rev. 3-2024)

Sarah Ward

Ward Architecture PC

✔

625 East 44th Street

Savannah, GA, 31405

2 7 3 9 5 2 4 4 3

- Page 138 -Item #9.

sarahward
Text Box
September 30, 2024



Form W-9 (Rev. 3-2024) Page 2 

must obtain your correct taxpayer identification number (TIN), which 
may be your social security number (SSN), individual taxpayer 
identification number (ITIN), adoption taxpayer identification number 
(ATIN), or employer identification number (EIN), to report on an 
information return the amount paid to you, or other amount reportable 
on an information return. Examples of information returns include, but 
are not limited to, the following.

• Form 1099-INT (interest earned or paid).

• Form 1099-DIV (dividends, including those from stocks or mutual 
funds).

• Form 1099-MISC (various types of income, prizes, awards, or gross 
proceeds).

• Form 1099-NEC (nonemployee compensation).

• Form 1099-B (stock or mutual fund sales and certain other 
transactions by brokers).

• Form 1099-S (proceeds from real estate transactions).

• Form 1099-K (merchant card and third-party network transactions).

• Form 1098 (home mortgage interest), 1098-E (student loan interest), 
and 1098-T (tuition).

• Form 1099-C (canceled debt).

• Form 1099-A (acquisition or abandonment of secured property).

Use Form W-9 only if you are a U.S. person (including a resident 
alien), to provide your correct TIN. 

Caution: If you don’t return Form W-9 to the requester with a TIN, you 
might be subject to backup withholding. See What is backup 
withholding, later.

By signing the filled-out form, you: 

1. Certify that the TIN you are giving is correct (or you are waiting for a 
number to be issued);

2. Certify that you are not subject to backup withholding; or

3. Claim exemption from backup withholding if you are a U.S. exempt 
payee; and

4. Certify to your non-foreign status for purposes of withholding under 
chapter 3 or 4 of the Code (if applicable); and

5. Certify that FATCA code(s) entered on this form (if any) indicating 
that you are exempt from the FATCA reporting is correct. See What Is 
FATCA Reporting, later, for further information.

Note: If you are a U.S. person and a requester gives you a form other 
than Form W-9 to request your TIN, you must use the requester’s form if 
it is substantially similar to this Form W-9.

Definition of a U.S. person. For federal tax purposes, you are 
considered a U.S. person if you are:

• An individual who is a U.S. citizen or U.S. resident alien;

• A partnership, corporation, company, or association created or 
organized in the United States or under the laws of the United States;

• An estate (other than a foreign estate); or

• A domestic trust (as defined in Regulations section 301.7701-7).

Establishing U.S. status for purposes of chapter 3 and chapter 4 
withholding. Payments made to foreign persons, including certain 
distributions, allocations of income, or transfers of sales proceeds, may 
be subject to withholding under chapter 3 or chapter 4 of the Code 
(sections 1441–1474). Under those rules, if a Form W-9 or other 
certification of non-foreign status has not been received, a withholding 
agent, transferee, or partnership (payor) generally applies presumption 
rules that may require the payor to withhold applicable tax from the 
recipient, owner, transferor, or partner (payee). See Pub. 515, 
Withholding of Tax on Nonresident Aliens and Foreign Entities.

The following persons must provide Form W-9 to the payor for 
purposes of establishing its non-foreign status.

• In the case of a disregarded entity with a U.S. owner, the U.S. owner 
of the disregarded entity and not the disregarded entity.

• In the case of a grantor trust with a U.S. grantor or other U.S. owner, 
generally, the U.S. grantor or other U.S. owner of the grantor trust and 
not the grantor trust.

• In the case of a U.S. trust (other than a grantor trust), the U.S. trust 
and not the beneficiaries of the trust.

See Pub. 515 for more information on providing a Form W-9 or a 
certification of non-foreign status to avoid withholding.

Foreign person. If you are a foreign person or the U.S. branch of a 
foreign bank that has elected to be treated as a U.S. person (under 
Regulations section 1.1441-1(b)(2)(iv) or other applicable section for 
chapter 3 or 4 purposes), do not use Form W-9. Instead, use the 
appropriate Form W-8 or Form 8233 (see Pub. 515). If you are a 
qualified foreign pension fund under Regulations section 1.897(l)-1(d), or 
a partnership that is wholly owned by qualified foreign pension funds, 
that is treated as a non-foreign person for purposes of section 1445 
withholding, do not use Form W-9. Instead, use Form W-8EXP (or other 
certification of non-foreign status).

Nonresident alien who becomes a resident alien. Generally, only a 
nonresident alien individual may use the terms of a tax treaty to reduce 
or eliminate U.S. tax on certain types of income. However, most tax 
treaties contain a provision known as a saving clause. Exceptions 
specified in the saving clause may permit an exemption from tax to 
continue for certain types of income even after the payee has otherwise 
become a U.S. resident alien for tax purposes.

If you are a U.S. resident alien who is relying on an exception 
contained in the saving clause of a tax treaty to claim an exemption 
from U.S. tax on certain types of income, you must attach a statement 
to Form W-9 that specifies the following five items.

1. The treaty country. Generally, this must be the same treaty under 
which you claimed exemption from tax as a nonresident alien.

2. The treaty article addressing the income.

3. The article number (or location) in the tax treaty that contains the 
saving clause and its exceptions.

4. The type and amount of income that qualifies for the exemption 
from tax.

5. Sufficient facts to justify the exemption from tax under the terms of 
the treaty article.

Example. Article 20 of the U.S.-China income tax treaty allows an 
exemption from tax for scholarship income received by a Chinese 
student temporarily present in the United States. Under U.S. law, this 
student will become a resident alien for tax purposes if their stay in the 
United States exceeds 5 calendar years. However, paragraph 2 of the 
first Protocol to the U.S.-China treaty (dated April 30, 1984) allows the 
provisions of Article 20 to continue to apply even after the Chinese 
student becomes a resident alien of the United States. A Chinese 
student who qualifies for this exception (under paragraph 2 of the first 
Protocol) and is relying on this exception to claim an exemption from tax 
on their scholarship or fellowship income would attach to Form W-9 a 
statement that includes the information described above to support that 
exemption.

If you are a nonresident alien or a foreign entity, give the requester the 
appropriate completed Form W-8 or Form 8233.

Backup Withholding
What is backup withholding? Persons making certain payments to you 
must under certain conditions withhold and pay to the IRS 24% of such 
payments. This is called “backup withholding.” Payments that may be 
subject to backup withholding include, but are not limited to, interest, 
tax-exempt interest, dividends, broker and barter exchange 
transactions, rents, royalties, nonemployee pay, payments made in 
settlement of payment card and third-party network transactions, and 
certain payments from fishing boat operators. Real estate transactions 
are not subject to backup withholding.

You will not be subject to backup withholding on payments you receive 
if you give the requester your correct TIN, make the proper certifications, 
and report all your taxable interest and dividends on your tax return.

Payments you receive will be subject to backup withholding if: 

1. You do not furnish your TIN to the requester;

2. You do not certify your TIN when required (see the instructions for 
Part II for details);

3. The IRS tells the requester that you furnished an incorrect TIN;

4. The IRS tells you that you are subject to backup withholding 
because you did not report all your interest and dividends on your tax 
return (for reportable interest and dividends only); or

5. You do not certify to the requester that you are not subject to 
backup withholding, as described in item 4 under “By signing the filled-
out form” above (for reportable interest and dividend accounts opened 
after 1983 only).

- Page 139 -Item #9.



Form W-9 (Rev. 3-2024) Page 3 

Certain payees and payments are exempt from backup withholding. 
See Exempt payee code, later, and the separate Instructions for the 
Requester of Form W-9 for more information.

See also Establishing U.S. status for purposes of chapter 3 and 
chapter 4 withholding, earlier.

What Is FATCA Reporting?
The Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA) requires a 
participating foreign financial institution to report all U.S. account 
holders that are specified U.S. persons. Certain payees are exempt from 
FATCA reporting. See Exemption from FATCA reporting code, later, and 
the Instructions for the Requester of Form W-9 for more information.

Updating Your Information
You must provide updated information to any person to whom you 
claimed to be an exempt payee if you are no longer an exempt payee 
and anticipate receiving reportable payments in the future from this 
person. For example, you may need to provide updated information if 
you are a C corporation that elects to be an S corporation, or if you are 
no longer tax exempt. In addition, you must furnish a new Form W-9 if 
the name or TIN changes for the account, for example, if the grantor of a 
grantor trust dies.

Penalties
Failure to furnish TIN. If you fail to furnish your correct TIN to a 
requester, you are subject to a penalty of $50 for each such failure 
unless your failure is due to reasonable cause and not to willful neglect.

Civil penalty for false information with respect to withholding. If you 
make a false statement with no reasonable basis that results in no 
backup withholding, you are subject to a $500 penalty.

Criminal penalty for falsifying information. Willfully falsifying 
certifications or affirmations may subject you to criminal penalties 
including fines and/or imprisonment.

Misuse of TINs. If the requester discloses or uses TINs in violation of 
federal law, the requester may be subject to civil and criminal penalties.

Specific Instructions
Line 1
You must enter one of the following on this line; do not leave this line 
blank. The name should match the name on your tax return.

If this Form W-9 is for a joint account (other than an account 
maintained by a foreign financial institution (FFI)), list first, and then 
circle, the name of the person or entity whose number you entered in 
Part I of Form W-9. If you are providing Form W-9 to an FFI to document 
a joint account, each holder of the account that is a U.S. person must 
provide a Form W-9.

• Individual. Generally, enter the name shown on your tax return. If you 
have changed your last name without informing the Social Security 
Administration (SSA) of the name change, enter your first name, the last 
name as shown on your social security card, and your new last name.  

Note for ITIN applicant: Enter your individual name as it was entered 
on your Form W-7 application, line 1a. This should also be the same as 
the name you entered on the Form 1040 you filed with your application.

• Sole proprietor. Enter your individual name as shown on your Form 
1040 on line 1. Enter your business, trade, or “doing business as” (DBA) 
name on line 2.

• Partnership, C corporation, S corporation, or LLC, other than a 
disregarded entity. Enter the entity’s name as shown on the entity’s tax 
return on line 1 and any business, trade, or DBA name on line 2.

• Other entities. Enter your name as shown on required U.S. federal tax 
documents on line 1. This name should match the name shown on the 
charter or other legal document creating the entity. Enter any business, 
trade, or DBA name on line 2.

• Disregarded entity. In general, a business entity that has a single 
owner, including an LLC, and is not a corporation, is disregarded as an 
entity separate from its owner (a disregarded entity). See Regulations 
section 301.7701-2(c)(2). A disregarded entity should check the 
appropriate box for the tax classification of its owner. Enter the owner’s 
name on line 1. The name of the owner entered on line 1 should never 
be a disregarded entity. The name on line 1 should be the name shown 
on the income tax return on which the income should be reported. For

example, if a foreign LLC that is treated as a disregarded entity for U.S. 
federal tax purposes has a single owner that is a U.S. person, the U.S. 
owner’s name is required to be provided on line 1. If the direct owner of 
the entity is also a disregarded entity, enter the first owner that is not 
disregarded for federal tax purposes. Enter the disregarded entity’s 
name on line 2. If the owner of the disregarded entity is a foreign person, 
the owner must complete an appropriate Form W-8 instead of a Form 
W-9.  This is the case even if the foreign person has a U.S. TIN. 

Line 2
If you have a business name, trade name, DBA name, or disregarded 
entity name, enter it on line 2.

Line 3a
Check the appropriate box on line 3a for the U.S. federal tax 
classification of the person whose name is entered on line 1. Check only 
one box on line 3a.

IF the entity/individual on line 1 
is a(n) . . .

THEN check the box for . . .

•  Corporation Corporation.

•  Individual or 

•  Sole proprietorship

Individual/sole proprietor.

•  LLC classified as a partnership 
for U.S. federal tax purposes or 

•  LLC that has filed Form 8832 or 
2553 electing to be taxed as a 
corporation

Limited liability company and 
enter the appropriate tax 
classification:  
P = Partnership, 
C = C corporation, or 
S = S corporation.

•  Partnership Partnership.

•  Trust/estate Trust/estate.

Line 3b
Check this box if you are a partnership (including an LLC classified as a 
partnership for U.S. federal tax purposes), trust, or estate that has any 
foreign partners, owners, or beneficiaries, and you are providing this 
form to a partnership, trust, or estate, in which you have an ownership 
interest. You must check the box on line 3b if you receive a Form W-8 
(or documentary evidence) from any partner, owner, or beneficiary 
establishing foreign status or if you receive a Form W-9 from any 
partner, owner, or beneficiary that has checked the box on line 3b.

Note: A partnership that provides a Form W-9 and checks box 3b may 
be required to complete Schedules K-2 and K-3 (Form 1065). For more 
information, see the Partnership Instructions for Schedules K-2 and K-3 
(Form 1065).

If you are required to complete line 3b but fail to do so, you may not 
receive the information necessary to file a correct information return with 
the IRS or furnish a correct payee statement to your partners or 
beneficiaries. See, for example, sections 6698, 6722, and 6724 for 
penalties that may apply.

Line 4 Exemptions
If you are exempt from backup withholding and/or FATCA reporting, 
enter in the appropriate space on line 4 any code(s) that may apply to 
you.

Exempt payee code.

•  Generally, individuals (including sole proprietors) are not exempt from 
backup withholding.

•  Except as provided below, corporations are exempt from backup 
withholding for certain payments, including interest and dividends.

•  Corporations are not exempt from backup withholding for payments 
made in settlement of payment card or third-party network transactions.

•  Corporations are not exempt from backup withholding with respect to 
attorneys’ fees or gross proceeds paid to attorneys, and corporations 
that provide medical or health care services are not exempt with respect 
to payments reportable on Form 1099-MISC.

The following codes identify payees that are exempt from backup 
withholding. Enter the appropriate code in the space on line 4.

1—An organization exempt from tax under section 501(a), any IRA, or 
a custodial account under section 403(b)(7) if the account satisfies the 
requirements of section 401(f)(2).

- Page 140 -Item #9.



Form W-9 (Rev. 3-2024) Page 4 

2—The United States or any of its agencies or instrumentalities.

3—A state, the District of Columbia, a U.S. commonwealth or territory, 
or any of their political subdivisions or instrumentalities.

4—A foreign government or any of its political subdivisions, agencies, 
or instrumentalities.

5—A corporation.

6—A dealer in securities or commodities required to register in the 
United States, the District of Columbia, or a U.S. commonwealth or 
territory.

7—A futures commission merchant registered with the Commodity 
Futures Trading Commission.

8—A real estate investment trust.

9—An entity registered at all times during the tax year under the 
Investment Company Act of 1940.

10—A common trust fund operated by a bank under section 584(a).

11—A financial institution as defined under section 581.

12—A middleman known in the investment community as a nominee or 
custodian.

13—A trust exempt from tax under section 664 or described in section 
4947.

The following chart shows types of payments that may be exempt 
from backup withholding. The chart applies to the exempt payees listed 
above, 1 through 13.

IF the payment is for . . . THEN the payment is exempt 
for . . .

•  Interest and dividend payments All exempt payees except 
for 7.

•  Broker transactions Exempt payees 1 through 4 and 6 
through 11 and all C corporations. 
S corporations must not enter an 
exempt payee code because they 
are exempt only for sales of 
noncovered securities acquired 
prior to 2012.

•  Barter exchange transactions 
and patronage dividends

Exempt payees 1 through 4.

•  Payments over $600 required to 
be reported and direct sales over 
$5,0001

Generally, exempt payees 
1 through 5.2

•  Payments made in settlement of 
payment card or third-party 
network transactions

Exempt payees 1 through 4.

1 See Form 1099-MISC, Miscellaneous Information, and its instructions.
2 However, the following payments made to a corporation and  
reportable on Form 1099-MISC are not exempt from backup 
withholding: medical and health care payments, attorneys’ fees, gross 
proceeds paid to an attorney reportable under section 6045(f), and 
payments for services paid by a federal executive agency.

Exemption from FATCA reporting code. The following codes identify 
payees that are exempt from reporting under FATCA. These codes 
apply to persons submitting this form for accounts maintained outside 
of the United States by certain foreign financial institutions. Therefore, if 
you are only submitting this form for an account you hold in the United 
States, you may leave this field blank. Consult with the person 
requesting this form if you are uncertain if the financial institution is 
subject to these requirements. A requester may indicate that a code is 
not required by providing you with a Form W-9 with “Not Applicable” (or 
any similar indication) entered on the line for a FATCA exemption code.

A—An organization exempt from tax under section 501(a) or any 
individual retirement plan as defined in section 7701(a)(37).

B—The United States or any of its agencies or instrumentalities.

C—A state, the District of Columbia, a U.S. commonwealth or 
territory, or any of their political subdivisions or instrumentalities.

D—A corporation the stock of which is regularly traded on one or 
more established securities markets, as described in Regulations 
section 1.1472-1(c)(1)(i).

E—A corporation that is a member of the same expanded affiliated 
group as a corporation described in Regulations section 1.1472-1(c)(1)(i).

F—A dealer in securities, commodities, or derivative financial 
instruments (including notional principal contracts, futures, forwards, 
and options) that is registered as such under the laws of the United 
States or any state.

G—A real estate investment trust.

H—A regulated investment company as defined in section 851 or an 
entity registered at all times during the tax year under the Investment 
Company Act of 1940.

I—A common trust fund as defined in section 584(a).

J—A bank as defined in section 581.

K—A broker.

L—A trust exempt from tax under section 664 or described in section 
4947(a)(1).

M—A tax-exempt trust under a section 403(b) plan or section 457(g) 
plan.

Note: You may wish to consult with the financial institution requesting 
this form to determine whether the FATCA code and/or exempt payee 
code should be completed.

Line 5
Enter your address (number, street, and apartment or suite number). 
This is where the requester of this Form W-9 will mail your information 
returns. If this address differs from the one the requester already has on 
file, enter “NEW” at the top. If a new address is provided, there is still a 
chance the old address will be used until the payor changes your 
address in their records.

Line 6
Enter your city, state, and ZIP code.

Part I. Taxpayer Identification Number (TIN)
Enter your TIN in the appropriate box. If you are a resident alien and 
you do not have, and are not eligible to get, an SSN, your TIN is your 
IRS ITIN. Enter it in the entry space for the Social security number. If you 
do not have an ITIN, see How to get a TIN below.

If you are a sole proprietor and you have an EIN, you may enter either 
your SSN or EIN. 

If you are a single-member LLC that is disregarded as an entity 
separate from its owner, enter the owner’s SSN (or EIN, if the owner has 
one). If the LLC is classified as a corporation or partnership, enter the 
entity’s EIN.

Note: See What Name and Number To Give the Requester, later, for 
further clarification of name and TIN combinations.

How to get a TIN. If you do not have a TIN, apply for one immediately. 
To apply for an SSN, get Form SS-5, Application for a Social Security 
Card, from your local SSA office or get this form online at 
www.SSA.gov. You may also get this form by calling 800-772-1213. Use 
Form W-7, Application for IRS Individual Taxpayer Identification 
Number, to apply for an ITIN, or Form SS-4, Application for Employer 
Identification Number, to apply for an EIN. You can apply for an EIN 
online by accessing the IRS website at www.irs.gov/EIN. Go to 
www.irs.gov/Forms to view, download, or print Form W-7 and/or Form 
SS-4. Or, you can go to www.irs.gov/OrderForms to place an order and 
have Form W-7 and/or Form SS-4 mailed to you within 15 business 
days.

If you are asked to complete Form W-9 but do not have a TIN, apply 
for a TIN and enter “Applied For” in the space for the TIN, sign and date 
the form, and give it to the requester. For interest and dividend 
payments, and certain payments made with respect to readily tradable 
instruments, you will generally have 60 days to get a TIN and give it to 
the requester before you are subject to backup withholding on 
payments. The 60-day rule does not apply to other types of payments. 
You will be subject to backup withholding on all such payments until 
you provide your TIN to the requester.

Note: Entering “Applied For” means that you have already applied for a 
TIN or that you intend to apply for one soon. See also Establishing U.S. 
status for purposes of chapter 3 and chapter 4 withholding, earlier, for 
when you may instead be subject to withholding under chapter 3 or 4 of 
the Code.

Caution: A disregarded U.S. entity that has a foreign owner must use 
the appropriate Form W-8.

- Page 141 -Item #9.



Form W-9 (Rev. 3-2024) Page 5 

Part II. Certification
To establish to the withholding agent that you are a U.S. person, or 
resident alien, sign Form W-9. You may be requested to sign by the 
withholding agent even if item 1, 4, or 5 below indicates otherwise.

For a joint account, only the person whose TIN is shown in Part I 
should sign (when required). In the case of a disregarded entity, the 
person identified on line 1 must sign. Exempt payees, see Exempt payee 
code, earlier.

Signature requirements. Complete the certification as indicated in 
items 1 through 5 below.

1. Interest, dividend, and barter exchange accounts opened 
before 1984 and broker accounts considered active during 1983. 
You must give your correct TIN, but you do not have to sign the 
certification.

2. Interest, dividend, broker, and barter exchange accounts 
opened after 1983 and broker accounts considered inactive during 
1983. You must sign the certification or backup withholding will apply. If 
you are subject to backup withholding and you are merely providing 
your correct TIN to the requester, you must cross out item 2 in the 
certification before signing the form.

3. Real estate transactions. You must sign the certification. You may 
cross out item 2 of the certification.

4. Other payments. You must give your correct TIN, but you do not 
have to sign the certification unless you have been notified that you 
have previously given an incorrect TIN. “Other payments” include 
payments made in the course of the requester’s trade or business for 
rents, royalties, goods (other than bills for merchandise), medical and 
health care services (including payments to corporations), payments to 
a nonemployee for services, payments made in settlement of payment 
card and third-party network transactions, payments to certain fishing 
boat crew members and fishermen, and gross proceeds paid to 
attorneys (including payments to corporations).  

5. Mortgage interest paid by you, acquisition or abandonment of 
secured property, cancellation of debt, qualified tuition program 
payments (under section 529), ABLE accounts (under section 529A), 
IRA, Coverdell ESA, Archer MSA or HSA contributions or 
distributions, and pension distributions. You must give your correct 
TIN, but you do not have to sign the certification.

What Name and Number To Give the Requester
For this type of account: Give name and SSN of:

1. Individual The individual

2. Two or more individuals (joint account) 
other than an account maintained by 
an FFI

The actual owner of the account or, 
if combined funds, the first individual 
on the account1

3. Two or more U.S. persons 
    (joint account maintained by an FFI)

Each holder of the account 

4. Custodial account of a minor 
(Uniform Gift to Minors Act)

The minor2

5. a. The usual revocable savings trust 
(grantor is also trustee)

The grantor-trustee1

b. So-called trust account that is not  
a legal or valid trust under state law

The actual owner1

6. Sole proprietorship or disregarded 
entity owned by an individual

The owner3

7. Grantor trust filing under Optional 
Filing Method 1 (see Regulations 
section 1.671-4(b)(2)(i)(A))**

The grantor*

For this type of account: Give name and EIN of:
8. Disregarded entity not owned by an 

individual
The owner

9. A valid trust, estate, or pension trust Legal entity4

10. Corporation or LLC electing corporate 
status on Form 8832 or Form 2553

The corporation

11. Association, club, religious, charitable, 
educational, or other tax-exempt 
organization

The organization

12. Partnership or multi-member LLC The partnership

13. A broker or registered nominee The broker or nominee

14. Account with the Department of 
Agriculture in the name of a public 
entity (such as a state or local 
government, school district, or prison) 
that receives agricultural program 
payments

The public entity

15. Grantor trust filing Form 1041 or 
under the Optional Filing Method 2, 
requiring Form 1099 (see Regulations 
section 1.671-4(b)(2)(i)(B))**

The trust

1 List first and circle the name of the person whose number you furnish.  
If only one person on a joint account has an SSN, that person’s number 
must be furnished.
2 Circle the minor’s name and furnish the minor’s SSN.
3 You must show your individual name on line 1, and enter your business 
or DBA name, if any, on line 2. You may use either your SSN or EIN (if 
you have one), but the IRS encourages you to use your SSN.
4 List first and circle the name of the trust, estate, or pension trust. (Do  
not furnish the TIN of the personal representative or trustee unless the 
legal entity itself is not designated in the account title.) 

* Note: The grantor must also provide a Form W-9 to the trustee of the 
trust.

** For more information on optional filing methods for grantor trusts, see 
the Instructions for Form 1041.

Note: If no name is circled when more than one name is listed, the 
number will be considered to be that of the first name listed.

Secure Your Tax Records From Identity Theft
Identity theft occurs when someone uses your personal information, 
such as your name, SSN, or other identifying information, without your 
permission to commit fraud or other crimes. An identity thief may use 
your SSN to get a job or may file a tax return using your SSN to receive 
a refund.

To reduce your risk:

• Protect your SSN,

• Ensure your employer is protecting your SSN, and

• Be careful when choosing a tax return preparer.

If your tax records are affected by identity theft and you receive a 
notice from the IRS, respond right away to the name and phone number 
printed on the IRS notice or letter.

If your tax records are not currently affected by identity theft but you 
think you are at risk due to a lost or stolen purse or wallet, questionable 
credit card activity, or a questionable credit report, contact the IRS 
Identity Theft Hotline at 800-908-4490 or submit Form 14039.

For more information, see Pub. 5027, Identity Theft Information for 
Taxpayers.

- Page 142 -Item #9.



Form W-9 (Rev. 3-2024) Page 6 

Victims of identity theft who are experiencing economic harm or a 
systemic problem, or are seeking help in resolving tax problems that 
have not been resolved through normal channels, may be eligible for 
Taxpayer Advocate Service (TAS) assistance. You can reach TAS by 
calling the TAS toll-free case intake line at 877-777-4778 or TTY/TDD 
800-829-4059.

Protect yourself from suspicious emails or phishing schemes.  
Phishing is the creation and use of email and websites designed to 
mimic legitimate business emails and websites. The most common act 
is sending an email to a user falsely claiming to be an established 
legitimate enterprise in an attempt to scam the user into surrendering 
private information that will be used for identity theft.

The IRS does not initiate contacts with taxpayers via emails. Also, the 
IRS does not request personal detailed information through email or ask 
taxpayers for the PIN numbers, passwords, or similar secret access 
information for their credit card, bank, or other financial accounts.

If you receive an unsolicited email claiming to be from the IRS, 
forward this message to phishing@irs.gov. You may also report misuse 
of the IRS name, logo, or other IRS property to the Treasury Inspector 
General for Tax Administration (TIGTA) at 800-366-4484. You can 
forward suspicious emails to the Federal Trade Commission at 
spam@uce.gov or report them at www.ftc.gov/complaint. You can 
contact the FTC at www.ftc.gov/idtheft or 877-IDTHEFT (877-438-4338). 
If you have been the victim of identity theft, see www.IdentityTheft.gov 
and Pub. 5027.

Go to www.irs.gov/IdentityTheft to learn more about identity theft and 
how to reduce your risk.

Privacy Act Notice
Section 6109 of the Internal Revenue Code requires you to provide your 
correct TIN to persons (including federal agencies) who are required to 
file information returns with the IRS to report interest, dividends, or 
certain other income paid to you; mortgage interest you paid; the 
acquisition or abandonment of secured property; the cancellation of 
debt; or contributions you made to an IRA, Archer MSA, or HSA. The 
person collecting this form uses the information on the form to file 
information returns with the IRS, reporting the above information. 
Routine uses of this information include giving it to the Department of 
Justice for civil and criminal litigation and to cities, states, the District of 
Columbia, and U.S. commonwealths and territories for use in 
administering their laws. The information may also be disclosed to other 
countries under a treaty, to federal and state agencies to enforce civil 
and criminal laws, or to federal law enforcement and intelligence 
agencies to combat terrorism. You must provide your TIN whether or not 
you are required to file a tax return. Under section 3406, payors must 
generally withhold a percentage of taxable interest, dividends, and 
certain other payments to a payee who does not give a TIN to the payor. 
Certain penalties may also apply for providing false or fraudulent 
information.

- Page 143 -Item #9.



- Page 144 -Item #9.



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

9/25/2024

30339

TYBEE ISLAND

SAVANNAH 

GAATLANTA

2500 CUMBERLAND PKWY#400

STERLING SEACREST PRITCHARD INC Certificate@Hanover.com

(855) 235-8562 (866) 828-2424

Hanover Insurance Co

Hanover American Ins Co

Citizens Ins Co of America

22292

36064

31534

✔
✔

1,000,000

1,000,000

5,000
1,000,000

2,000,000

2,000,000

A N N OBA H593684 03 05/17/2024 05/17/2025

✔ ✔

✔
OBA H593684 03 05/17/2024 05/17/2025

WZA H593496 03

1,000,000A

N

✔
100,000

100,000

500,000

C

B Architects & Engineers Prof Liab

N N

N N LHA H610577 03

05/17/2024 05/17/2025

05/17/2024 05/17/2025

GA 31405

GA 31328

WARD ARCHITECTURE PC

DBA WARD ARCHITECTURE & PRESERVATION

625 EAST 44TH STREET

403 BUTLER AVENUE

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND

1,000,000

Claims-Made: $1M Ea Claim/$1M Agg

N

✔

- Page 145 -Item #9.



- Page 146 -Item #9.



- Page 147 -Item #9.



City of Tybee Island - Request for Proposal (RFP) Evaluation Form

RFP 2024-779 Historic District Consultant

Project Title:__________________________________________________________________________

RFP Number: __________________________________________________________________________

Evaluator Name:_________________________________________ Date:_________________________

Evaluation Criteria

Please evaluate each proposal based on the following criteria. Provide scores and comments for each
section.

CRITERIA POSSIBLE POINTS

Professional Qualifications 20

Specialized Experience and Technical Competence 20

Capacity to Accomplish the Required Services on Schedule and within
Budget

20

Past Performance 15

Understanding of Project 15

Quality Assurance 10

1. Professional Qualifications (0-20 Points)

Score: ________

Comments:____________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________

Development of a Local Historic District for the Fort Screven National Register Historic District and the
North Campbell Neighborhood

2024-779

Holly Grell-Lawe, HPC Chair 10/2/2024

20

The professional qualifications of the consultants are extensive, evident within the proposal,
clearly established by their outstanding reputations in the historic preservation community, prior 
work for the City of Tybee Island, and their work on 40 HPD grant-funded historic preservation projects.

- Page 148 -Item #9.



2. Specialized Experience and Technical Competence (0-20 Points)

Score: ________

Comments:____________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________

3. Capacity to Accomplish the Required Services on Schedule and within Budget (0-20 Points)

Score: ________

Comments:____________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________

4. Past Performance (0-15 Points)

Score: ________

Comments:____________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________

5. Understanding of Project (0-15 Points)

Score: ________

Comments:____________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________

6. Quality Assurance (0-10 Points)

Score: ________

Comments:____________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________

20

15

10

15

18 The positive, widespread reputations of the consultants is well known. They may well be in high 
demand and the current level of their existing project commitments is not fully known. However, 
the consultants' work on dozens of HPD grant-funded projects indicates that they are experienced 
with meeting non-negotiable activity timelines and schedules for deliverables. This provides 
confidence that the required services will be provided on schedule and within budget. 

The consultants have extensive specialized experience and demonstrated technical competence in
historic preservation, including the elements required for this project, such as historic resource surveys, 
design guidelines, research, nomination documentation, photographic architectural records, and public
presentations. In addition, their previous historic preservation work on Tybee Island is highly 
notable and a potentially significant asset to this project.

Successful (and relevant) past performance is clearly established, including historic preservation 
related projects on Tybee Island, many of which this reviewer is familiar with. In addition, this
reviewer has heard positive reviews of the consultants' work in informal conversations with 
persons who have used their services to help attain National Register listing for their historic 
property onTybee, or to help access tax incentives for historic rehabilitation. 

Proposal indicates a solid understanding of local historic district designation, the processes involved, 
and the key factors for success, including public outreach and engagement.

This reviewer has found the high quality of the consultants' deliverables for the three Tybee projects 
highlighted in the proposal (Historic Resource Surveys, Southend Design Guidelines, PARs for 
FEMA Elevation Grants) to be exemplary. Along with this, their experience in meeting the quality 
assurance demands of HPD in over 40 HPD grant-funded projects provides assurance of their 
internal controls and their focus on generating high quality products and results.

- Page 149 -Item #9.



Total Score (out of 100):

Final Recommendation:

Highly Recommended

Recommended

Not Recommended

Evaluator Comments:

Evaluator Signature: _________________________________ Date:_____________________________

This evaluation form helps ensure an objective and thorough assessment of all RFP submissions for the

City of Tybee Island.

98

10/2/2024

The consultants have impressive professional qualifications, extensive hands-on experience with all 
the elements embedded in each phase of this project, and a history of successsful historic preservation 
related projects on Tybee  I am confident that this project would be well executed by them.

- Page 150 -Item #9.



City of Tybee Island - Request for Proposal (RFP) Evaluation Form 

RFP 2024-779 Historic District Consultant

Project Title: Development of a Local Historic District for Fort Screven National Register Historic         
District and the North Campbell Neighborhood 

RFP Number: 2024-779

Evaluator Name: Sarah Jones    Date: October 4, 2024

Evaluation Criteria 

Please evaluate each proposal based on the following criteria. Provide scores and comments for each 
section. 

CRITERIA POSSIBLE POINTS 

Professional Qualifications 20 

Specialized Experience and Technical Competence 20 

Capacity to Accomplish the Required Services on Schedule and within 
Budget 

20 

Past Performance 15 

Understanding of Project 15 

Quality Assurance 10 

1. Professional Qualifications (0-20 Points)

Score: 20

Comments: Together, Sarah Ward and Bob Ciucevich form a team that combines academic rigor, 
practical experience, and a collaborative approach, making them highly qualified to lead the effort in 
establishing a local historic district.

- Page 151 -Item #9.



2. Specialized Experience and Technical Competence (0-20 Points)

Score: 20

Comments: Ward’s deep understanding of architectural history and urban development allows her to 
assess the significance of both individual properties and districts as a whole, guiding the process from 
documentation through to formal designation. Ciucevich has led numerous historic district projects, 
including the preparation of National Register nominations and local historic district designation efforts. 
His work on Tybee Island's Historic Resource Survey has ensured the protection of Tybee Island's 
historic resources while also promoting economic development and neighborhood revitalization.

3. Capacity to Accomplish the Required Services on Schedule and within Budget (0-20 Points)

Score: 20

Comments: Ward and Ciucevich have a proven ability to  maximize their individual strengths to ensure 
both timely and cost-effective project delivery. Their combined experience in managing historic 
preservation projects of varying sizes and complexities ensures that they are well-equipped to handle 
the logistical and financial challenges that can arise during district designation processes.

4. Past Performance (0-15 Points)

Score: 15

Comments: Ward and Ciucevich have a proven track record of delivering projects on schedule, a deep 
expertise in the preparation of thorough and accurate documentation for historic district nominations, 
and a strong collaboration with local governments and preservation boards, ensuring smooth project 
execution and regulatory approval.

5. Understanding of Project (0-15 Points)

Score: 15

Comments: Ward and Ciucevich bring a deep and comprehensive understanding of the process required 
to establish a local historic district. Their approach is built on a nuanced understanding of the regulatory 
frameworks, community dynamics, and technical documentation required to ensure successful district 
designation.

6. Quality Assurance (0-10 Points)

Score: 10

Comments: Ward and Ciucevich prioritize a thorough and systematic quality assurance (QA) process to 
ensure the highest standards are met throughout every phase of the local historic district designation 
project. Their QA approach includes careful planning, documentation, stakeholder communication, and 
compliance with regulatory standards.

- Page 152 -Item #9.



Total Score (out of 100): 

Final Recommendation: 

o Highly Recommended
o Recommended

o Not Recommended

This evaluation form helps ensure an objective and thorough assessment of all RFP submissions for the 

City of Tybee Island. 

100

Evaluator Comments: 

As the Executive Director of The Tybee Island Historical Society, I have had the privilege of working with 
Sarah Ward and Bob Ciucevich on numerous historic preservation projects over the past 15 years. In 
every instance, I have been highly satisfied with their professionalism, attention to detail, and 
commitment to preserving the historical and architectural integrity of each project. Their deep 
understanding of preservation processes, coupled with their ability to engage community stakeholders, 
has consistently led to the successful preservation projects always on time and within budget. Their 
collaborative approach has made them invaluable partners in achieving our preservation goals.

Evaluator Signature: _________________________________  Date: 10/04/2024

- Page 153 -Item #9.



City of Tybee Island - Request for Proposal (RFP) Evaluation Form

RFP 2024-779 Historic District Consultant

Project Title:__________________________________________________________________________

RFP Number: __________________________________________________________________________

Evaluator Name:_________________________________________ Date:_________________________

Evaluation Criteria

Please evaluate each proposal based on the following criteria. Provide scores and comments for each
section.

CRITERIA POSSIBLE POINTS

Professional Qualifications 20

Specialized Experience and Technical Competence 20

Capacity to Accomplish the Required Services on Schedule and within
Budget

20

Past Performance 15

Understanding of Project 15

Quality Assurance 10

1. Professional Qualifications (0-20 Points)

Score: ________

Comments:____________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________

Develop a Local Historic District (LHD) for the Fort Screven National Register Historic District (NRHD)
and the North Campbell Neighborhood (NCN)

2024-779

Cassidi Kendrick 10/2/2024

20

The consultants very clearly define their experience and education that make them qualified to complete 
this project. This project is extensive as it is five phases and requires a divese skillset with completing historic resource
surveys, district/projerty designations and nominations, design guidelines, and working with the public/local government
entities. They also highlight previous projects completed specifically focused on Tybee Island.

- Page 154 -Item #9.



2. Specialized Experience and Technical Competence (0-20 Points)

Score: ________

Comments:____________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________

3. Capacity to Accomplish the Required Services on Schedule and within Budget (0-20 Points)

Score: ________

Comments:____________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________

4. Past Performance (0-15 Points)

Score: ________

Comments:____________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________

5. Understanding of Project (0-15 Points)

Score: ________

Comments:____________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________

6. Quality Assurance (0-10 Points)

Score: ________

Comments:____________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________

20

The consultant demonstrates a strong level of specialized experience and technical competence in this 
proposal. They have a proven track record of successfully completing similar projects, some of which on Tybee Island. 
Their proposed methodology was comprehensive and concise, showcasing their understanding of the project and th
need for attention to detail. 

19

This proposal demonstrates the consultants ability to complete the project within the given budget, and on time
with the schedule that is dictated in part by DCA. This project has hard deadlines and will require attention to 
set due dates. The consultant team indicates their ability to meet these deadlines based off several previously completed
CLG Grant projects, with Tybee Island and across the state of Georgia. 

15

The consultant team has successfully completed several historic preservation projects, not limited to district
designations, historic resource surveys and other HPD funded projects. 

15

The proposal showcased the consultant team's expertise in historic district planning, public engagement, 
and the complexities of historic preservation initiatives as a sensitive topic requiring extensive public engagement and 
community input. Their proposal demonstrates their understanding of the area and how previous projects completed
on Tybee Island may be useful for the development of this project.  

10

The Tybee Island HPC has previously worked with these consultants on several historic preservation
projects outlined in the proposal. The consultants have been very professional, completed all deliverables
and have showcased the ability to produce high quality work. 

- Page 155 -Item #9.



Total Score (out of 100):

Final Recommendation:

Highly Recommended

Recommended

Not Recommended

Evaluator Comments:

Evaluator Signature: _________________________________ Date:_____________________________

This evaluation form helps ensure an objective and thorough assessment of all RFP submissions for the

City of Tybee Island.

99

These consultants have an impressive portfolio of historic preservation work in the Tybee Island area and
other parts of the country. Overall, their proposed approach to the completion of this project is well-aligned
with the HPC's objectives of this CLG Grant project.

10/2/2024

- Page 156 -Item #9.



   City of Tybee Island - Request for Proposal (RFP) Evaluation Form 

RFP 2024-779 Historic District Consultant 

 

Project Title: LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT CONSULTANT                      

RFP Number: RFP No. 2024-779 

Evaluator Name: Patricia Sinel   Date: October 2, 2024 

Evaluation Criteria 

Please evaluate each proposal based on the following criteria. Provide scores and comments for each 
section. 

CRITERIA POSSIBLE POINTS 

Professional Qualifications 20 

Specialized Experience and Technical Competence 20 

Capacity to Accomplish the Required Services on Schedule and within 
Budget 

20 

Past Performance 15 

Understanding of Project 15 

Quality Assurance 10 

1. Professional Qualifications (0-20 Points) 

Score: 20 

 
Comments: Consultants have required educational background and professional certifications to 
complete the project  

2. Specialized Experience and Technical Competence (0-20 Points) 

- Page 157 -Item #9.



 

Score: 20 

 
Comments: Consultants have uniquely relevant experience related to the project and other directly 
related projects for Tybee Island specifically. 

3. Capacity to Accomplish the Required Services on Schedule and within Budget (0-20 Points) 

Score: 20 

 
Comments: The consultants have submitted a proposal that meets the anticipated deadline. 

4. Past Performance (0-15 Points) 

Score: 14 

 
Comments: Consultants have submitted examples of past performance. Consultant should update 
reference information for future responses. 

5. Understanding of Project (0-15 Points) 

Score: 15 

 
Comments: The proposal provides a clear understanding of the project at hand the type of work to be 
done. 

6. Quality Assurance (0-10 Points) 

Score: 10 

 
Comments: The proposal demonstrates numerous examples of producing high quality work. Referenced 
plans and projects were reviewed by this evaluator for content and clarity. 

Total Score (out of 100): 99 

 

Final Recommendation: 

● Highly Recommended: This Consultant Team is highly recommended. 

Evaluator Comments: 

- Page 158 -Item #9.



 

This evaluator had the opportunity to review the consultants’ education, work, and achievement 
experience. The proposal meet or exceeds the criteria laid out in the advertised RFP. Based on past 
projects, experience and interest is the project is clearly present. 

Evaluator Signature: _________________________________  Date:_____________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This evaluation form helps ensure an objective and thorough assessment of all RFP submissions for the 
City of Tybee Island. 

October 2, 2024

- Page 159 -Item #9.



   City of Tybee Island - Request for Proposal (RFP) Evaluation Form 

RFP 2024-779 Historic District Consultant 

 

Project Title: Local Historic District (LHD) for the Fort Screven National Register Historic District (NRHD) 
and the North Campbell Neighborhood (NCN) 

RFP Number: 2024-779 

Evaluator Name: Maggie Wright                                Date: October 3, 2024 

Evaluation Criteria 

Please evaluate each proposal based on the following criteria. Provide scores and comments for each 
section. 

CRITERIA POSSIBLE POINTS 

Professional Qualifications 20 

Specialized Experience and Technical Competence 20 

Capacity to Accomplish the Required Services on Schedule and within 
Budget 

20 

Past Performance 15 

Understanding of Project 15 

Quality Assurance 10 

1. Professional Qualifications (0-20 Points) 

Score: _20__ 

Comments: Professional qualifications are laid out in great detail. Ward Architecture + Preservation and 
Quatrefoil Consulting Inc. bring over 50 years of combined experience working with Georgia’s historic 
properties, with a special emphasis on Tybee Island. Their extensive collaboration on numerous projects 
makes them a strong choice to help the HPC establish our very first local historic district. 

- Page 160 -Item #9.



 

2. Specialized Experience and Technical Competence (0-20 Points) 

Score: __20__ 

 
Comments: The consultants’ previous experience on Tybee Island is clearly communicated and 
thoroughly explained. Ward Architecture + Preservation and Quatrefoil Consulting have a long record of 
projects that aim to preserve Tybee’s historic resources. Sarah Ward and Bob Ciucevich have led 
multiple preservation projects here, including the Tybee Island Historic Resources Survey (Phases I and 
II), Design Guidelines for the South End Business Overlay District, and the Photographic Permanent 
Archival Record (PAR). Their dedication to protecting Tybee’s unique character is evident in their 
ongoing work. 

3. Capacity to Accomplish the Required Services on Schedule and within Budget (0-20 Points) 

Score: __19__ 

 
Comments: The schedule and budget Ward Architecture + Preservation and Quatrefoil Consulting have 
outlined aligns with our project timeline. It is noted that their full-time staff have the experience and will 
have the project completed on time and within budget.  

4. Past Performance (0-15 Points) 

Score: _15__ 

 
Comments: Ward Architecture + Preservation and Quatrefoil Consulting are highly regarded for their 
expertise in historic preservation, having successfully completed several significant projects on Tybee 
Island. These include the Tybee Island Historic Resources Survey (Phases I and II), the Design Guidelines 
for the South End Business Overlay District, and the Photographic Permanent Archival Record (PAR). 

5. Understanding of Project (0-15 Points) 

Score: __15__ 

Comments: It is clear from Section B and the Project Understanding section that the consultants have a 
clear and full understanding of the requirements and workload of designating our first local historic 
district.  

6. Quality Assurance (0-10 Points) 

Score: ___10___ 

 
Comments: Ward Architecture + Preservation and Quatrefoil Consulting have assured that they have the 
internal control measures to produce quality work on schedule and within budget. Their reputations on 
Tybee Island also prove that they have been very successful in our community.  

- Page 161 -Item #9.



 

Total Score (out of 100): ___99/100__ 

Final Recommendation: 

● Highly Recommended 
● Recommended 
● Not Recommended 

Evaluator Comments: 

I am confident that Ward Architecture + Preservation and Quatrefoil Consulting are the ideal consultants 
for establishing our first local historic district. Both firms are highly respected for their expertise in 
historic preservation and have successfully delivered several notable projects on Tybee Island. With 
their proven track record, I am certain this project will be in capable hands and completed with the 
highest level of professionalism. 

Evaluator Signature: ________________________  Date:_____________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This evaluation form helps ensure an objective and thorough assessment of all RFP submissions for the 
City of Tybee Island. 

October 3, 2024

- Page 162 -Item #9.



File Attachments for Item:

10. Legislative Services Annual Agreement:  Civic Forward Strategies,  LLC (Tom Gehl, Principal)

- Page 163 -



  City of Tybee Island 
 

Memorandum 
 
To: City of Tybee Island City Council   
From: Bret Bell, City Manager  
Date: October 4, 2024  
Re: Legislative Services Annual Agreement  
 
 
Title  
Legislative Services Annual Agreement 
 
Action 
Adoption of an annual professional services agreement with Civic Forward Strategies for 
legislative services in an amount totaling $4,500 per month. 
 
Background 
In 2023 the City signed a professional services agreement with Civic Forward Strategies LLC 
(Tom Gehl, Principal) to lobby on behalf of the City of Tybee Island on proposed legislation related 
to unpermitted large special events. In addition, and at no additional cost, the City utilized the 
firm’s services to advance the City’s position on other matters of importance to Tybee Island. The 
total cost was $25,000.  
 
The City received a significant return on this investment. Successes during the 2024 General 
Assembly included: 

 Passage of SB 443, which allows jurisdictions to bring nuisance claims against the 
promoters of unpermitted special events that pose public safety threats and cause major 
traffic congestion, requiring costs by City taxpayers. 

 Helped secure $4 million in funding from the State to help cover the local share of our next 
beach renourishment. 

 Secured passage of legislation authorizing Tybee Island Municipal Court to impose 
technology fees on citations to pay for needed equipment such as computers, Flock 
cameras and other technology.  

 Enhanced Tybee Island’s relationship with State agencies such as the Georgia State 
Patrol, the Department of Natural Resources, the Department of Community Affairs, and 
the State House/Senate Study Committee on Disaster Mitigation and Resiliency. 

 
 
 
 
  
 

- Page 164 -Item #10.



Facts and Findings 
Based on this level of success, the City Manager recommends adoption of a new annual 
professional services agreement with Civic Forward Strategies LLC for the 2025 Legislative 
Session and beyond.  
 
Civic Forward Strategies would work with Tybee City Council to develop a Legislative Agenda, 
which will include at a minimum: 
 

1. Defending the City’s ability to regulate short-term rentals within our jurisdiction, which 
will face significant challenges this session from the vacation rental industry. 
2. Working with State agencies to create long-term water supply solutions for Tybee Island 
3. Diversifying the City’s revenue sources to help fund the City’s water, wastewater and 
stormwater infrastructure needs. 

 
Civic Forward Strategies will provide monthly reports on  
 
Funding 
The contract is to secure State legislative services at a monthly retainer of $4,500, or $54,000 
annually.  
 
Any travel costs for meetings with legislators or executive branch staff in Atlanta would be borne 
by Civic Forward Strategies. Should attendance be required for meetings in other locations across 
the state, Civic Forward Strategies would be reimbursed for actual travel and any lodging costs.  
 
The FY25 Budget includes $30,000 for State advocacy costs. The remaining FY25 balance of 
roughly $10,000 will be funded through the City Manager Contract Services budget line 100-1320-
52-1200. Contractual costs during FY26 will be incurred in the FY26 Budget.  
 
Purchasing Notes 
The City of Tybee Island Procurement Policy states that normal competitive bidding procedures 
are not ordinarily required for professional services contracts.  
 
Civic Forward Strategies’ fee of $4,500 per month is well in line with industry standards. The City 
of Savannah, for instance, pays $8,500 monthly for State legislative services. Tybee Island’s 
previous agreement with Civic Forward Strategies was for services related to a single piece of 
legislation for a lump sum fee of $25,000.  
 
This proposed annual contract will run from Oct. 10, 2024, through Oct. 10, 2025. The City of 
Tybee Island may terminate the agreement at no penalty with 30 days’ notice.  
 
Alternatives 
1. Adoption of an annual professional services agreement with Civic Forward Strategies for 
legislative services in an amount totaling $4,500 per month. 
 
2. Receive no representation during the 2025 Legislative Session. 
 
Recommendation 
That Council adopts Alternative 1. 
 
 

- Page 165 -Item #10.



 

 
 

Civic Forward Strategies, www.civicforwardstrategies.com 

(404) 444-8900 

Proposal 
 
 

 

For Governmental Relations Services for the City of Tybee Island 
September 2024 

 
Review of Accomplishments  
In 2023-2024, Civic Forward Strategies proactively developed a strategy and lobbied on 
behalf of the city of Tybee Island for the passage of a general law which gives local 
governments enhanced powers to respond to unpermitted special events which arise or are 
planned and promoted through social media. Civic Forward Strategies, in concert with 
members of the Tybee Island legislative delegation, worked with members of the General 
Assembly to secure passage of Senate Bill 443 to bring nuisance claims against promoters of 
unpermitted events which pose public safety threats, cause major traffic congestion and incur 
costs to the city’s taxpayers. 
 
Civic Forward Strategies worked with legislators to secure $4 million in funding for beach 
renourishment and lobbied to secure passage of legislation authorizing the Tybee Island 
Municipal Court to impose technology fees on citations to pay for needed equipment like 
computers, Flock cameras and other technology as determined by the city. 
 
Professional Price Arrangements 
For governmental relations services necessary to navigate the legislative process Civic 
Forward Strategies proposes for the City of Tybee Island a monthly retainer of $4,500, 
beginning on October 1, 2024. This agreement shall continue until either party gives 30 days’ 
advanced notice of intent to terminate or is not continued by inaction of the governing body 
on an annual basis.  
 
Civic Forward Strategies will proactively lobby on behalf of the city on any issues as directed 
by the Mayor and Council, such as defending the city’s ability to regulate short-term rentals 
within its jurisdiction, protecting the city’s ability to augment its water supply to meet growth 
demands, and pursuing access to a municipal option sales tax (MOST) which would allow 
retail spending on the island to be used for water, wastewater and stormwater costs.  
 
Any travel costs for meetings with legislators or executive branch staff in Atlanta would be 
borne by Civic Forward Strategies. Should attendance be required for meetings in other 
locations across the state, Civic Forward Strategies asks for reimbursement of actual travel 
and any lodging costs. Travel, lodging, meals, and out-of-pocket expenses will always be 
discussed with the point of contact in the City of Tybee Island prior to expenditure. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- Page 166 -Item #10.

mailto:TomGehl@CivicForwardStrategies.com


2 
 

Firm Principles  
Civic Forward Strategies is an independent governmental affairs firm centered in political 
reality, upholding the highest ethical standards, and focused on client results.  
 
Civic Forward Strategies’ Founder and Principal Tom Gehl has extensive bi-partisan, 
statewide political relationships cultivated beginning with every consecutive General 
Assembly session since 1990 and through wide-ranging involvement with thought-leaders 
throughout Georgia. Prior to founding Civic Forward Strategies, Tom lobbied on behalf of all 
municipal governments for the Georgia Municipal Association (GMA) for 22 years. For more 
information, visit: www.civicforwardstrategies.com.  
 
Acceptance of the Proposal 
 
__________, ______________________,  
 
 
City of Tybee Island: _______________________ 
 
Date: ____________ 

- Page 167 -Item #10.

http://www.civicforwardstrategies.com/


File Attachments for Item:

11. End of Fiscal Year Budget Amendment

- Page 168 -



  City of Tybee Island 
 

Memorandum 
 
To: City of Tybee Island City Council   
From: Bret Bell, City Manager  
Date: Sept 29, 2024  
Re: End of fiscal year budget amendment  
 
 
Title  
FY24 Year End Budget Amendment 
 
Action 
Adoption of FY24 budget amendment. 
 
Background 
State Law requires the City to adopt a balanced budget each fiscal year. The budget requires constant 
management, as adjustments must be made due to unforeseen expenditures and revenue 
fluctuations. At the end of each fiscal year, the City must make a final budget amendment before 
closing out the books to ensure expenditures are aligned with budget.  
 
Attached is the end of year budget amendment to align actual department expenditures within budget 
amounts. The department budgets with a deficit are supplemented by other department budgets with 
a budget surplus resulting in no net affect to total expenditures. 

 
Facts and Findings 

1. The City must reconcile any General Fund dept budget deficits on an annual basis by 
increasing budget revenues, using surplus or supplementing with other department 
surpluses.  

2. The year-end budget closeout revelated the City exceeded budgeted expenditures 
totaling $140,000 in four departments. 

3. The City can supplement department deficits with other department surpluses. 
4. The following General Fund departments had deficits and for the following reasons: 

 Finance – City credit card user fees and service costs were higher than anticipated. 
The city continues to look for ways to reduce these costs.  

 Human Resources – The 2023 annual workers comp audit resulted in a higher 
premium cost than anticipated. 

 Court – For financial statement presentation only. GASB 84 states all court fiduciary 
activity must be accounted for at gross amounts. This has zero effect on actual 
costs. 

 Public Works – All General Fund utility costs were accounted for in the Public Works 
department, power costs were much higher than anticipated. Staff vacancies also 
resulted in higher overtime costs.  

- Page 169 -Item #11.



 
Funding 
Funding for the above department deficits will be supplemented by the following department 
budget surpluses: 
Legal 100-1110-52-1000  $100,000 
IT Contract Services   $42,000 
 
Alternatives 

1. Approve the year-end budget amendment as recommended. 
2. Provide other guidance. 

 
Recommendation 
Approval of Alternative 1. 

- Page 170 -Item #11.



- Page 171 -Item #11.



File Attachments for Item:

12. A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A NATIONAL FISH AND WILDLIFE 

GRANT  AGREEMENT TO UNDERTAKE THE FINAL DESIGN AND PERMITTING OF 

PROJECTS IN THE BACK RIVER AREA A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A NATIONAL FISH 

AND WILDLIFE GRANT AGREEMENT TO UNDERTAKE THE FINAL DESIGN AND 

PERMITTING OF PROJECTS IN THE BACK RIVER AREA

- Page 172 -



  City of Tybee Island 
 

Memorandum 
 
To: City of Tybee Island City Council   
From: Bret Bell, City Manager  
Date: October 3, 2024  
Re: Acceptance of National Fish and Wildlife Grant  
 
 
Title  
Resolution to accept a National Fish and Wildlife (NFWF) Grant 
 
Action 
Adoption of Resolution to accept NFWF Grant totaling $180,000 for final design and permitting 
of the 6th Street Culvert Replacement, raising Venetian Drive, and other nature-based 
stormwater improvements. 
 
Background 
The City was awarded a $125,000 NFWF National Coastal Resilience Program (NCRP) Grant 

in 2020 to assess flood mitigation in the Back River, resulting in the Tybee Island Natural 

Infrastructure Plan. The City’s cost share was $175,000.  

 

The City defined a series of projects to mitigate flooding, principally replacing the 6th Street 

culvert, raising Venetian Drive approximately 18 inches from Chatham Avenue to 12th Street 

with living shoreline and improved bike and pedestrian lanes, and nature-based drainage along 

the length of the island. 

 

The City applied for another NCRP Grant in April 2023, and in November 2023 the City was 

named the recipient of a $380,000 grant to bring those projects to Final Design and Permitting. 

The City has now completed the required documentation for this phase. Total anticipated cost of 

this phase of the project is $700,000, of which Tybee Island would be required to commit 

$320,000 in local funds. The project is planned to begin in 2025. Tybee Island has until 

December 31, 2027, to complete the project. 

 
Facts and Findings 
1. The projects defined within the scope of this Agreement have been identified through the 
Natural Infrastructure Master Plan as top priorities to mitigate flooding from the Back River. 
2. The design of these projects was considered in the City’s Stormwater Management Plan, 
which was undertaken at the same time. The two plans are integrated. 

- Page 173 -Item #12.



3. The deliverable of this project will be 90% construction design and at minimum a DNR Marsh 
Protection Act Permit application in process to present to the DNR Marsh Protection Act 
Committee for consideration and approval at a future date. 
4. The Resident Advisory group formed during the first phase of this project will remain in place, 
augmented by residents directly adjoining the project areas on Venetian Drive and 6th Street 
culvert. The Technical Advisory Group will also remain in place, augmented by representatives 
of the surrounding counties for whom Tybee’s beach and marsh are amenities valued by the 
residents of those counties. 
 
Funding 
The City’s cost share of $320,000 for this Grant was not included in the FY25 budget. This 
expenditure, however, is expected to be incurred over the next two fiscal years to coincide with 
planned design and permitting expenditures. Funding will come from a combination of operating 
budget funds, surplus and fund balance. A specific budget amendment will be presented to City 
Council at a later date to fund Tybee Island’s FY25 share of the design cost. The City’s 
anticipated FY26 cost will be included in the FY26 budget. 
 
Purchasing Notes 
Not applicable. 
 
Alternatives 
1. Accept the NFWF Grant and develop funding plan for FY25 and FY26 Tybee Island cost 
share. Project start date is flexible if budget issues arise. 
2. Decline acceptance of the Grant and forego future grant opportunities from NFWF. 
 
Recommendation 
That Council adopts Alternative 1. 
 
 

- Page 174 -Item #12.



A  RESOLUTON 2024-___ 

A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A NATIONAL FISH AND WILDLIFE GRANT 

 AGREEMENT TO UNDERTAKE THE FINAL DESIGN AND PERMITTING 

OF PROJECTS IN THE BACK RIVER AREA 

 

Whereas, the City of Tybee Island (“City”) has invested significant time and money in working 

with a variety of agencies including the US Army Corps of Engineers and the Georgia 

Department of Natural Resources to build and maintain its coastal resilience through a variety 

of initiatives, and 

 

Whereas, the City was awarded a National Fish and Wildlife Foundation National Coastal 

Resilience Program (NCRP) Grant in 2020 to assess flood mitigation in the Back River, and 

 

Whereas, the City defined a series of projects to mitigate flooding and applied for another NCRP 

Grant and has been awarded a Grant to bring those projects to Final Design and Permitting 

based on that application project definition, scope, rationale, and goals, and 

 

Whereas, a condition of acceptance of that Grant is that City commit to spend $320,000 on the 

project and funds in the amount of $320,000 are available in the City’s General Fund and have 

been identified as the City’s contribution under the Grant Agreement, 

 

Now therefore, be it resolved by the Mayor and Council of the City of Tybee Island, in open 

meeting duly assembled, that the Mayor is hereby authorized to execute all appropriate 

documents in connection with the Agreement and Grant with the National Fish and Wildlife 

Foundation, and the Clerk of Council is authorized to Attest the Mayor’s signature on such 

documents. 

 

This ______ day of _______, 2024. 

         City of Tybee Island Council 

 

         ______________________ 

         Brian West, Mayor 

 

Attest: _________________________ 

 Jan LeViner, MMC 

 City Clerk 

- Page 175 -Item #12.


	Top
	Item #1.	Retired Educators Proclamation
	Retired Educators Proclamation

	Item #2.	Minutes, City Council Meeting, September 12, 2024
	20240912Minutes

	Item #3.	Keith Gay:  STR Audit
	Item #4.	Approval of a minor combination subdivision of three lots into two lots.  Owner:  Billy Navon.  Location:  0 5th Avenue.  Zoning:  C-2 and R-1-B
	1-SUBDIVISION-0- 5TH AVE

	Item #5.	Approval of a site plan for the redevelopment of the Wastewater Treatment Plant.  Owner:  City of Tybee Island.  923 Bay Street.  Zoning:  R-1/NEP
	2-SITEPLAN-923 BAY ST

	Item #6.	Treylor Park Beach Party Inc, Entertainment and Alcohol License Request
	Treylor Park Beach Party Inc-Alcohol and Entertainment License request

	Item #7.	Merchant Processing Applicataion and Agreement:  Cardconnect
	Payment Gateway Agenda Item.ck
	Govapp_CKEDITS

	Item #8.	MOU – DNR on Beach Restoration $4,000,000 Appropriation
	092024 Beach Renourishment MOU
	MOU Template - Tybee Island

	Item #9.	Awarding of RFP 2024-779 Historic District Consultant
	HPC RFP Agenda Item.ck.bb
	Tybee Local Historic District_PROPOSAL_10012024
	Grell-Lawe_RFP Evaluation Form RFP 2024-779 Historic District Consultant_HGL
	Jones_City of Tybee Island - Request for Proposal (RFP) Evaluation Form RFP 2024-779 Historic District Consultant
	Kendrick_City of Tybee Island - Request for Proposal (RFP) Evaluation Form RFP 2024-779 Historic District Consultant
	Sinel_RFP Evaluation Form RFP 2024-779 Historic District Consultant_HGL
	Wright_City of Tybee Island - Request for Proposal (RFP) Evaluation Form RFP 2024-779 Historic District Consultant

	Item #10.	Legislative Services Annual Agreement:  Civic Forward Strategies,  LLC (Tom Gehl, Principal)
	100424 Civic Forward Strategies.bb
	Civic Forward Strategies Proposal for Governmental Relations Services_Tybee Island 2024

	Item #11.	End of Fiscal Year Budget Amendment
	Oct 10 Council Agenda Memo
	[Untitled]

	Item #12.	A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A NATIONAL FISH AND WILDLIFE GRANT  AGREEMENT TO UNDERTAKE THE FINAL DESIGN AND PERMITTING OF PROJECTS IN THE BACK RIVER AREA
	Cover Memo NFWF 10-10-24 Council.bb
	A  RESOLUTON 2024-__

	Bottom



